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The Bahamas Development Bank ("The Bank" or "BDB") was established in 1974 under the Bahamas
Development Bank Act, as a fully government-backed National Development Bank (NDB), to
promote Bahamian ventures in industrial, agriculture, tourism, manufacturing, and commercial
development. It is mandated to promote economic development and prosperity through the
financing of and investing in economically viable projects that create employment, utilize local
resources, improve the trade balance, introduce new technologies and skills in agriculture, fisheries,
manufacturing, services, tourism, and transportation sectors in The Bahamas. The BDB Act provides
The Bank with broad powers, giving the institution the capacity to meet a wide range of
opportunities.

Profile
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To be the Government’s catalyst in
facilitating and stimulating sustainable
development through economic
expansion and diversification throughout
the Commonwealth of The Bahamas.

To be the developmental financial
institution of choice for Sustainable
Development throughout The
Bahamas.

Empowering Bahamians for
ownership because we’re Bahamians
too.

Our Mission

Our Vision

Our Motto

We foster trust and integrity with our customers and
colleagues.
We uphold accountability and transparency to our
stakeholders.
We deliver professional and excellent customer service.
We provide innovative products and services.
We are adaptable learners, we embrace change.

Our Core Values



"I envision a whole-of-society
approach in fulfilling our
mandate and achieving the
Sustainable Development
Goals. I look forward to the
transformational outcomes
and tangible progress toward
the achievement of the SDGs
and ultimately a sustainable
future for Bahamians" 

Senator The Honorable 
Quinton C. Lightbourne



Chairman of The Bahamas

Development Bank  

The Bahamas Development Bank’s

unwavering support to the Bahamian

people for over four decades has yielded

much success. As incoming Chairman, I

intend to further expand upon BDB’s

impact by continuing to enhance The

Bank’s capacity as a mechanism to

support wealth generation and economic

empowerment across the archipelago. 

The Bahamas has experienced many

challenges in recent years in light of

hurricanes and the global pandemic.

However, as the National Development

Bank we are committed to promoting

economic development and prosperity

despite these challenges. As we continue

to recover from previous disasters and

emerge from the effects of the Covid-19

pandemic and adapt to the impacts of

climate change, it is imperative that we

“build back better”. Innovative forms of

development finance will continue to

serve as our catalyst to propel sustainable

development across the Blue, Green, and

Orange Economies. 

Chairman's Remarks
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Charles Barnett
Former Chairman

[until September 2021]

The Board of Directors listed below served until September 2021. On October 1st  of 2021,   Senator
The Honorable Quinton C. Lightbourne  was appointed to serve as Chairman of The Bank

The Board of Directors
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Senator The Honorable Quinton C. Lightbourne 
Chairman 

[effective October 1st 2021] 

Anastacia Hepburn
[until September 2021] 

Charles Farquharson
[until September 2021]

Don Martin 
[until September 2021]

Lowell Burrows
[until September 2021]

Tevin Bannister
[until September 2021]

Kirvy Ferguson
Former Deputy Chairman

[until September 2021]

Dave Smith
Former Managing Director

[until September 2021]



Committees of The Board
During 2021, the Committees of The Board were as follows: 
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Small Business Advisory and Credit Risk Management

Makes recommendations to the Board for loan approvals, credit risk
policies, guarantees, private equity transactions, and any other project
proposals that they would have reviewed as per Part III Section 12 of
the BDB Act.

Charles Barnett - Chair 
Anastacia Hepburn 
Andrew Albury 
Don Martin 
Donna Jones 
Lowell Burrows 
Tevin Bannister 

Audit, Finance, Risk & IT Committee

Advises the Board of Directors on the soundness of BDB's financial
management by overseeing standards of integrity and conduct,
internal control systems, financial control, and audit processes,
including internal audits, the annual financial audit, and any periodic
special examination.

Advises the Board as a matter of good governance and risk
management on how The Bank should anticipate the unexpected and
plan for business continuity to minimize service disruption in situations
of calamity or crises.

Makes recommendations related to investments and ensures that the
Bank’s Plan is in compliance with its mandate. Ensures that BDB’s key
risks are identified and appropriately managed by recommending risk
management policies to the Board regarding such key risks as
financial, credit, market, strategic investment, and operational.

Kirvy Ferguson - Chair 
Anastacia Hepburn 
Donna Jones 
Lowell Burrows 

Pension Committee

The pension committee considers and decides questions of policy,
principles and interpretation relative to the Pension Plan. 

Kirvy Ferguson - Chair 
Donna Jones 
Don Martin 



Business Transformation Committee

Tevin Bannister - Chair 
Andrew Albury 
Charles Farquharson 
Donna Jones 
Lowell Burrows 
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Human Resources, Legal & Ethics Committee

Supports the Board in its duties to set guidelines and approval on
compensation and benefits, and support succession planning efforts of
The Bank. This committee also serves to govern the ethics of The
Bank and support the establishment of an ethical culture. The
committee should promote and monitor the ethical behavior of the
Board officials and clients, paying attention to conflicts of interest,
confidential information, compliance with relevant laws, public
communication, internal and external fraud, stakeholder relationships,
and other matters. This committee acts as the investigative function of
the Bank for all reported allegations that are made in accordance
with the Whistleblower Policy.

Charles Farquharson - Co
Chair
Anastacia Hepburn - Co
Chair
Andrew Albury 
Charles Barnett 
Donna Jones 
Lowell Burrows 

Assesses strategic options and projects to diversify The Bank’s loan
portfolio, and innovative industry and/or technological trends that will
drive The Bank’s portfolio transformation, inclusive of matters related
to sustainability e.g. Environmental and Social Standards and Gender
Engages with industry professionals to augment decision-making
processes surrounding strategic investment decisions to finance
innovation in the colored economies (Orange, Green, and Blue)
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REPORTS



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT &
INITIATIVES

Overview
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The Strategic Development and Initiatives Unit (SDI) ensures that The Bank maintains alignment with
its Strategic Objectives. The major elements of BDB’s new direction are a strengthened commitment to
the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals, the Bahamas’ National Development Plan, and
BDB’s 2020 – 2024 Strategic Plan. Much of this work is organized into themes revolving around the
Blue, Green, and Orange Economies.

Research and Development, along with stakeholder engagement are key functions of SDI. By building
relationships with The Bank’s main stakeholders, i.e. financiers, decision-makers, and of course, the
Bahamian people, SDI is positioned to address well-defined market problems through interventions that
combine creative, concessionary financing with technical assistance. Internally, SDI collaborates with
other departments of The Bank to investigate different approaches to maximize BDB’s development
returns while improving access to finance among youth, female entrepreneurs, and other underserved
groups. To support these activities SDI is tasked with seeking out sources of funding for onward
financing, and capacity development. 

In 2021, The Bahamas Development Bank focused on broadening access to finance, strengthening
internal capacity to advance the Sustainable Development Goals, and improving policies and
procedures to align with international best practices in development finance. In addition to operational
work, Strategic Development and Initiatives advanced several projects and programs within the colored
economies i.e. Green, Orange, and Blue. Also notable, SDI launched The Bahamas Development Bank’s
inaugural grant programs in 2021. 

European Union’s ACP TradeCom II Programme
In 2021, two existing SDI projects received technical
assistance valued at $40,000 each from the European
Union’s ACP TradeCom II Programme. The TradeCom II
Programme’s goal is to foster regional integration and
increased global economic participation of African,
Caribbean, and Pacific Countries in efforts to contribute to
sustainable economic development and poverty reduction.
TradeCom extended this technical assistance grant to
facilitate the strengthening of The Bahamas’ agricultural
sector by supporting trade facilitation and trade
promotion. The projects included were BDB’s Community
Poultry Project (CPP) and the Small Ruminant
Revitalization Programme (SRRP). 

Dr. Cox & Dr. Stanley evaluate the quality of
existing areas used for ruminant feeding 






STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT &
INITIATIVES
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The Community Poultry Project was developed by SDI in the interest of supporting small-scale broiler
production as a viable industry with the development of a Central Processing Unit (CPU) and providing
lending for grow houses. The CPU is intended to be operated by staff with backgrounds in live animal
production and nutrition who offer training, coordinate input logistics for the grow houses, provide technical
support, and market and sell the birds. Key experts Jason Sands and Justin Taylor were commissioned in
TradeCom ACP’s “P128: Market Access and Quality Management for Community Poultry Farmers in The
Bahamas” to develop an agri-business model to modernize poultry farming in The Bahamas and ensure
productivity and trade expansion, and to provide technical assistance in developing quality management,
standards compliance, and labeling in support of this project. The technical assistance consultancy concluded
in August 2021 with training workshops that highlighted the need for further regular training on production
and disease management. 

Similarly, TradeCom ACP commissioned “P127: Market Access and Quality Management for Ruminant
Farmers in The Bahamas” in support of BDB’s Small Ruminant Revitalization Programme (SRRP). The SRRP
is a collaboration between BDB, the Ministry of Agriculture and Marine Resources (MAMR), and the
Caribbean Agricultural Research & Development Institute (CARDI). P127 was executed by key experts Dr.
Ashton Stanley and Dr. Keith Cox to further the work done by CARDI by creating an agribusiness model
and designing climate-smart ruminant housing systems. The consultants and an SDI representative traveled
to Long Island in March 2021 to host a townhall meeting with farmers, visit their farms to assess current
conditions and gather pertinent data. To further facilitate trade expansion, a virtual training session was
held in August 2021 for small ruminant farmers on quality management and labeling to address standard
compliance and traceability to be able to compete in national and international markets. The project will
continue to advance with the provision of essential infrastructures, such as an abattoir on Long Island
provided by the government. 

Green Lending Program 
Narrowing its focus on the green economy, SDI fostered a
relationship with Easy Car Sales, the sole distributor of the BYD
electric vehicles in The Caribbean. Electric vehicles provide immense
savings on fuel while contributing to reducing carbon emissions that
contribute to climate change. To assist businesses with becoming
more environmentally responsible, SDI created the Green Lending
Program. This program was designed to assist businesses (including
home-based) with covering the upfront capital costs involved in the
transition to green forms of energy by offering 100% financing for
electric vehicles and solar panel systems. The electric vehicle financing
portion of the program has been successful however, further
stakeholder engagement, consultations, and partnerships are required
for the solar system financing phase. 



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT &
INITIATIVES
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Academy of Women Entrepreneurs Microloan Program
Maintaining The Bank’s alignment with the Sustainable Development Goals, specifically Goal 5: Gender
Equality and Women’s Empowerment, SDI partnered with the US Embassy’s Academy of Women
Entrepreneurs (AWE) Program to launch the AWE Microloan Program. The United States Department of
State’s Bureau of Educational and Cultural Affairs launched AWE to support female entrepreneurs by
equipping them with the practical skills needed to create sustainable businesses and enterprises. Furthering this
initiative, BDB’s AWE Microloan Program provides accessible loans of up to $15,000 for Bahamian graduates
of the program. Over $250,000 has been allocated for recent and earlier graduates. BDB’s partnership with
the AWE Program is the first of many ventures to increase access to finance for Bahamian women
entrepreneurs. The Bank is actively seeking additional partners to support the elimination of discrimination
against women and girls, the empowerment of women, and the achievement of equality between women and
men via equitable opportunities for financial inclusion.

Green Climate Fund Accreditation Application
The Bahamas Development Bank was selected as the National Direct Access Entity to receive funds from the Green
Climate Fund (GCF). The Green Climate Fund (GCF) is the world’s largest climate fund, dedicated to supporting
developing countries raise their ambitions towards low-emissions and climate-resilient pathways with climate
financing. GCF achieves this by investing across the built environment; energy and industry; human security, livelihoods
and wellbeing; and land-use, forests, and ecosystems. The accreditation process to access these funds is designed to
check if an entity has fiduciary, environmental and social, and gender policies and procedures and demonstrated
evidence of implementing these policies and procedures. For such a complex undertaking, technical assistance from
the Caribbean Community Climate Change Centre was granted with a consultancy to offer GCF Readiness and
Preparatory Support. SDI served as The Bank’s focal point with the consultancy team and led the efforts to bring
internal procedures and policies up to GCF standards. Several policies and amendments arose from these efforts. The
Bank is now in a position to apply for GCF accreditation to receive financing for climate-resilient projects, loans, and
grants for projects of up to USD$10 million.



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT &
INITIATIVES
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Policy Evolution - Environmental and Social Standards and 
Gender Policy
As mentioned, several policies were created or amended in preparation for BDB’s accreditation application.
Most notably, BDB’s Board of Directors approved The Bank’s first Environmental and Social Safeguards
(ESS) Policy and Gender Policy. Environmental and social sustainability is fundamental to the achievement of
BDB’s vision of being the developmental financial institution of choice for Sustainable Development
throughout The Bahamas. The adoption of the ESS Policy ensures that opportunities to strengthen
environmental and social sustainability shall be identified at the earliest stage of project design, realized
through implementation, and tracked through monitoring and evaluation. Similarly, the Gender Policy was
approved based on the understanding that gender inequality reduces the efficiency and effectiveness of
interventions made under the mandate of The Bank. The policy emphasizes and strategizes an equitable
approach that applies a gendered lens that meets the needs of both men and women. Several members of
SDI have received training in several areas to support the execution of and adherence to these policies
including Environmental and Social Risk Analysis.

2X Collaborative
Maintaining The Bank’s commitment to inclusion and gender equity, SDI
formed a relationship with UN Women which ultimately led to BDB becoming
the first institution in the Caribbean region to join the 2X Collaborative in
September 2021. The 2X Collaborative is a global body that capitalizes on the
benefits of investing in women while mobilizing capital toward women’s
empowerment. It is designed to serve investors making gender-focused
investments. As a development finance institution, BDB’s membership grants
The Bank access to peer learning networks, co-investment platforms,
partnership and training opportunities, and innovative investment tools. 

Marketing and Outreach
A continued focus was placed on marketing The Bank’s rebranded image and strategic objectives, a core function of
SDI. Stakeholder engagement, positive public images and interactions are both paramount to BDB’s success moving
forward. There was also a need to diversify outreach, ensuring targeted engagement of all Bahamian demographics
across the country. . This was underpinned when SDI successfully advocated for an addition with the appointment of
The Bank’s first Communications Officer. Since then BDB has received increased media coverage across various
platforms including social media with the creation of a Twitter account. Furthermore, targeted discussions were held
across two colored economies. 



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT &
INITIATIVES

Aquaculture / Aquaponics
100

Yachting 
36

In April 2021, with the over-arching theme “From Small Island State to Big Ocean Nation”, SDI hosted the
country’s first Blue Economy Think Tank. This event was designed to highlight ways Bahamians can benefit
from the increased sustainable use of ocean resources in four thematic areas: food, bio extractives,
maritime industry and energy, as well as arts, culture and tourism. Twenty experts from within the country
and the Caribbean region served as panelists to an audience of over 340 participants to discuss areas of
revenue generation using The Bahamas’ ocean resources. The Hon. Michael Pintard, Minister of
Agriculture and Marine Resources bolstered the importance of these initiatives during his keynote address
saying, “Sustainable use of ocean resources in tandem with economic development is simply a must”. Such
an event revealed many areas of opportunity within all of the thematic areas for Bahamian entrepreneurs
and The Bank. As a result, SDI created the Blue Action Plan, a strategic outline of projects and initiatives
to further sustainable economic development within the Blue Economy. 

343
 Participants
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Blue Economy Virtual Think Tank

Persons interested in
training



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT &
INITIATIVES

Understanding the unique nature of creative industries, SDI launched a discussion series to better understand the needs and
challenges of Bahamian creatives in accessing finance and furthering their crafts. In May 2021, creatives from across the
country joined in interactive discussion sessions segmented by industries such as Gastronomy and Cultural Traditions;
Fashion, Handicrafts and Visual Arts; and Audiovisual and Performing Arts. Within these sessions, creatives expressed their
needs and gratitude as BDB was the first financial institution to directly consult with the sectors. From these sessions, SDI
determined action areas to increase access to finance and meet the needs of creative Bahamians. 
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Orange Economy Conversation Series

Furthering the significance of the Blue Economy Think Tank, this event served as the launch of the Bahamas Development
Bank’s first grant offering. SDI structured the Blue Economy Grant with an allocation of $30,000 to offer four grants of
$7,500 to proposals aimed at accelerating the sustainable development of the country’s blue economy. By the end of May,
the highest-scoring projects demonstrated feasibility and excellent scores in the areas of innovation, inclusion, community
partnerships, strong impacts, capacity building, and climate change considerations. These projects include a proposal aimed
at addressing the issues of environmental pollution and the costs of farming; seaweed research to determine the
appropriate cultivation processes, identify economic value chains and necessary infrastructure placements; and restoration of
the sand dunes in coastal areas of Grand Bahama. 

Blue Economy Grant 

50+ Creatives
Attended
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Englerston Community Grant
After settling in at its new location on Robinson
Road and Key West Street, a strategic move
intended to increase the Bahamian public’s
awareness and access to finance, SDI arranged a
Town Hall Meeting at Christ the King Anglican
Parish and launched the Englerston Community
Grant to support microbusiness development. 

A total of $20,000 was allocated for this initiative
aimed at supporting businesses with the purchase of
equipment or training needed to scale up.
Ultimately, 10 applicants with unique business
proposals were successful in receiving grants of
$2,000. 

The awarded businesses received the highest scores
during the review process, especially in areas such
as innovation and capacity building. Business
categories were unique and varied including mobile
marketing, composting, landscaping, fashion,
gastronomy, e-commerce, repurposing, waste
diversion, industrial services, and facilitating Family
Island capacity development. 



Category Jan 21 - Dec 21

New Applications $19,691,652

Approved $4,999,980

Declined $2,280,586

Disbursed $1,742,465

Pending $10,668,621
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Origination
In 2021, the Credit Department undertook an aggressive approach to booking loans, resulting in the
figures shown in Table 1. Of the yearly total, a total of $129,706  in loans were approved under the
Green Lending Program and $15,000 was allocated to the loans under the Academy of Women
Entrepreneurs Program. In addition the end of year pipeline reflects a value of $3.418M.

$129,706
Approved

Electric Vehicle Financing

$15,000
Approved to

AWE Graduate

Portfolio Demographics

Services
51.5%

Agriculture
22.8%

Tourism
12.4%

Manufacturing
9%

Fisheries
2.2%

Staff
2.1%

New Providence
77%

Grand Bahama
17%

Exuma & Cays
4%

CREDIT OPERATIONS

Portfolio Distribution



CREDIT OPERATIONS
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Portfolio Performance
The Bank's portfolio saw a decline in its performing portfolio year after year.  In 2021, loans totalling
$2,732,000 or 55% of the target was booked, of which $1,742,465 was disbursed.  Although the loans
booked grew by 16.25% and the Bank's performing loan based grew by .32%, the non-performing loans
grew by 72.23%, so the non-performing loans far outnumbered the performing loans by percentage.

EOY 2017 EOY 2018 EOY 2019 EOY 2020 EOY 2021

15,000,000 

10,000,000 

5,000,000 

0 

Provisioning
Since the beginning of the year 2021 the Bad Debt Provision increased by $1.740 million, this increase is
due to recognizing impaired loans. This can be partially attributed to ongoing challenges in the macro
economic environment due to prolonged challenges related to COVID 19.



CREDIT RISK 
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The Credit Risk Department created a risk rating matrix designed in the line with The Bahamas’
Transaction Reporting Act (2018) and IFRS 9. Three main factors were determined as the main drivers for
a High Risk account designation. Further, a Financial Ratio Sheet was created for reviewing existing and
future projects. Throughout 2021, staff members across other departments were trained in the process of
risk rating customer accounts and creating various reports. 

Risk Rating 

Initially, CRIF-Bahamas had identified more than 40,000 errors relating to customers’ data. A special
project team was appointed to focus on rectifying the remaining errors identified by CRIF-Bahamas. By
the fourth quarter of 2021, the Bank was able to correct all data errors identified in the CRIF-Bahamas
error report for Transit 5. The focus for 2022 has now shifted to the remaining transits (i.e. 1, 2, 3 and 4,
consisting of some 400 plus accounts) and the written-off loans (approximately 400 accounts). A team of
four employees has been assigned to this working group. 

Credit Bureau

As an additional measure to strengthen The Bank's credit risk management system, revisions and
recommendations regarding the proposed Credit Policy were provided by the Credit Risk Department. It
is expected that the amended proposed Credit Policy will be reviewed by the Board of Directors in 2022. 

Credit Policy

Risk rating all loan accounts and ensuring that loans are classified in line with The Bank’s policy;
Ensuring that credit reviews are performed and that all covenants are managed to reduce loss;
Ensuring that The Bank’s provisions are properly administrated to accurately reflect The Bank's loan                     
values and minimize potential loss; and
Ensuring that The Bank’s Credit Policies and SOPs are being followed in order to reduce losses.

The Credit Risk Department has been responsible for: 

In 2021, these responsibilities expanded to include developing an internal risk rating matrix, formulating
additional SOPs for processing credits, reviewing existing credits, liaising with the IT Department to provide
required information to CRIF Bahamas, and reviewing guarantees of all loans to confirm whether they are
held, stamped and recorded. Additionally, as a result of the pandemic, Credit Risk maintained a focused
effort to minimize portfolio slippage through intense risk management. 



The Business Development Unit consistently rolled out several initiatives aimed at creating additional
pipelines of opportunities for new business. These include but are not limited to proposals to collaborate
with various entities to explore synergies; a community walkabout (see photos below), virtual town-halls to
discuss BDB’s offerings, further outreach to stakeholders and direct solicitation with business persons. 

Numerous pipeline opportunities were created via these stakeholder engagement activities. After brokering
relationships, these opportunities for grants and loans were passed on to the SDI Unit and Credit
Department respectively. 

Furthering the department’s engagement strategy, focus was also placed internally to improve the loan
application and credit processes. Continued external outreach manifested in a revised loan book growth
target considering fruitful initiatives. With Credit focusing on booking and disbursing loans, Business
Development supported their department by handling high-valued VIP applicants (see Easy Car Sales
photo). 

Eventually, Business Development became a unit of one, however combined efforts with SDI and Credit
yielded a net positive effect on the pipeline in successive months. 
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Troy Sampson, Business Development
Manager, engages with Trevor Lockhart, a local

tire repair shop owner on Meadow Street,
advising about the opportunities which are
available for small business persons at BDB.

Members of SDI and Business Development Manager,
Troy Sampson, representatives from BTVI, the 

Over-the-Hill-Initiative (OPM) and RBPF Southern
Station officers 



BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
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From Left to Right: Zina Williams - Communications & Administrative Officer in SDI, Troy Sampson -
Business Development Manager, and Sumayyah Cargill - Unit Head of Strategic Development &

Initiatives at the launch of the latest electric vehicle available at Easy Car Sales. 

Troy Sampson, Business Development Manager pictured
with Dr. Michelle Singh, Country Representative for
CARDI pose in front of a proposed new housing system
or intensive ruminant production  During 2021, Sampson
and Singh worked together to support evidence-based
farmer financing as part of the Long Island Small
Ruminant Program.



GOVERNANCE, RISK, COMPLIANCE
& CONTROL

 Loan Processing;
 Financial Reporting;
 Corporate Governance Structure and functionality; and
 Internal Audit’s compliance with the International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF).

Policies, procedures, and guidance notes are still being updated or created consistently to ensure that the
processes of the Bank are sufficiently documented and adequate for the Bank to execute its mandate.

In 2020, the Bank sought the services of an External Assessor to conduct a review on the efficiency and
effectiveness of the following business processes and their related internal controls:

1.
2.
3.
4.

Credit Administration Database; and
Fixed Asset Register

The review was completed in December 2020 and the final report was issued to the Board of Directors.
Management is actively working toward resolving a number of the issues that were identified within the
report. As at 31 December 2021, 70% of the findings that were raised during this review have been resolved
and updated within the Risk and Control Database that was developed in 2020 to assist with the risk
management process.

In 2020, there were two (2) Internal Control Reviews completed.
1.
2.

The Annual Control Plan for 2022 has been completed and approved by Management. Due to limited
resources for the execution of control reviews the number has been reduced to twelve (12).

Over the past year, The Bank has made significant strides in seeking to
rectify compliance-related legacy issues. The Bank has improved its
Compliance Rate from 95% non-compliance to approximately 55% non-
compliance as of 31 December 2021. In 2022, we intend to improve this rate
by at least an additional 10%. The department has been providing regular
updates to the Compliance Commission on the progress of the deficiencies
identified from the last compliance audit. 

Compliance

The Bahamas Development Bank | Annual Report 2021 22

Internal Control
 Compliance Rate Improvement

FROM 5% TO 45%



GOVERNANCE, RISK, COMPLIANCE
& CONTROL

The Governance, Risk, and Control team has been specifically focused on projects surrounding client files
and the information therein. In addition to ensuring that facility holder verification is being carried out the
Compliance Team is also assisting Credit Operations and Credit Risk to ensure that the Credit Bureau
project is actioned in a timely manner by updating the Alpha Banking system with the relevant compliance
information to ensure that the requirements for the Credit Bureau are met. The initial Credit Bureau review
revealed an excess of 40,000 errors across all transits. As of 31 December 2021, we have been able to
resolve all errors relating to Transit 5 loans and employee loans. As additional information is received it will
be updated within Alpha Banking and the relevant reports.

Projects & Initiatives
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Document Control
In 2019, The Bank took steps toward implementing a digital records management software that will make
customer data more readily available to relevant staff. Phase I of the implementation was completed in
September 2020. The Bank has also invested in the necessary hardware that will facilitate quality image
capture of the documents being scanned. Despite the challenges faced with the COVID-19 pandemic, the
project is expected to be completed by December 2023. Significant progress has been made with the
completion of all active, delinquent and non-accrual loans. Once these items have been completed the
written-off and repaid files will be actioned next. 

Enterprise Risk Management 
A number of policies, procedures and guidance notes were developed internally to support initiatives and
improvements in operations efficiencies. Further, the Document Control team has addressed internal gaps
that were identified by the Credit Bureau to reduce several risks to our reputation and the overall strategic
objectives. Planned Internal Control Reviews were scheduled throughout the year in 2021. However, limited
resources have delayed the number of reviews that were completed within the period. 



HUMAN RESOURCES

0 2.5 5 7.5 10

Governance, Risk, Compliance & Control 

Special Projects 

Business Development 

Human Resources & Administration 

IT & Premises 
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40%

Under 1 Year
27.5%
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12.5%

5-9 Years
7.5%
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5%

15-19 Years
5%

Staffing Distribution
The Bahamas Development Bank had a staff complement of 40 in 2021. 90%  of staff were based  
 in New Providence. The distribution across departments is indicated in the figure below:

Legal

Credit Operations

Credit Risk

Office of the Managing Director

Financial Control

The Human Resources department continued its commitment to staff and their well-being during
the pandemic. HR maintained Safety-At-Work protocols previously established, arranged periodic
complimentary Covid-19 testing, sanitization of workspaces, and managed work-from-home
rotations throughout 2021. 

Tenure and Structure
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BDB continues to support capacity development through talent acquisition while providing
opportunities for existing staff to grow within the organization. 

Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 Level 5 Level 6 Level 7 Level 8 Level 9

15 

10 

5 

0 

Management (2-4) & Staff (5-9) Level
Staff Distribution Across Levels Tenure



HUMAN RESOURCES

Under 18 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64

15 
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None
52.5%

Yes
47.5%

0 5 10 15 20

High School Diploma or equivalent 

Associates Degree or equivalent 

Bachelors Degree or equivalent 

Masters Degree or Equivalent 

Staff Gender Distribution  Staff Age Distribution

Staff with Certifications 
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Age and Gender
BDB is an equal opportunity employer as reflected in our HR and Gender Policies. We have a

zero-tolerance policy for discrimination and harassment that, along with our benefits and

commitment to decent work under SDG Goal 8, makes BDB a great place to work in 2021. Many

of our team members are under 35. Through committees and working groups, these young people

are cultivated to lead in their respective areas.

Staff Levels of Education

Learning and Growth
Life-long learning for BDB team members is considered critical at BDB. In 2021, we have continued

to take steps to ensure that organizational experience and culture are transmitted through peer-to-

peer learning and staff rotations. We have also encouraged staff to take advantage of courses and

formal learning.

28 12



HUMAN RESOURCES

Staff Recognition
BDB rewards team members who excel in their respective roles. The selected winners Akeem Saunders,
Employee of The Year, and Ashley Outten, Manager of the Year were among the highest performers of
the year.

The Hummingbird Award  rewards the team member who best represents the desired attributes of
BDB staff. The theme for the year 2021 was "Vigorous/Energetic",  Sumayyah Cargill was selected as
the deserving staff member this year.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

Warren Logan Rolle Apprenticeship Program

Be enrolled in the University of The Bahamas pursuing a Bachelor’s Degree within a field of study
relevant to the financial services sector;
Maintain a GPA of 3.0 or above; and
Work at The Bahamas Development Bank while pursuing his/her studies

The Bahamas Development Bank’s Warren Logan Rolle Apprenticeship Program seeks to provide a
student who has a sound academic background, with the opportunity to participate in a four-year
apprenticeship program. The apprentice may be considered for full-time employment with the Bahamas
Development Bank, upon completion of the program. During this four-year apprenticeship program, the
selected candidate will be expected to:
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Merisha Butler was selected as the 2021 Warren Logan Rolle Apprentice, pictured left to right are
Octavia Greene (2020 Warren Logan Rolle Apprentice), Warren Logan Rolle (BDB's first Managing 
 Director), Merisha Butler (2021 Warren Logan Rolle Apprentice), and Dave Smith (former Managing
Director). 



INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
Throughout the year, the Information Technology Department continued to execute and monitor The
Bank’s technological advancement. In response to COVID-19, BDB maintained varied levels of remote work,
as a result, the Information Technology Department team continued to increase the scope of support, both
internally and externally, to all end-users to ensure staff productivity outside of the office. 

The Information Technology Department focused on maintaining and improving all of the platforms,
databases, servers and subscription based services that were implemented in the year prior. The IT
Department also ensured that new staff received training on all relevant systems. New and existing staff
were trained of the newly implemented systems aimed at streamlining the collections processes. 
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Despite the global pandemic’s impact on court proceedings, the Legal Department continued to pursue
litigation proceedings to resolve long outstanding balances. Other matters that were active but delayed in
courts were consistently monitored. Existing judgements were also monitored to ensure action in a timely
manner to avoid judgments becoming statute-barred.  Additionally, many accounts were reviewed to
address any possible title issues. Flagged accounts have been noted for assignment to a law firm to assist in
rectifying the issues. 

The Legal Department has been committed to completing several projects and initiatives aimed at
improving the legal standing of The Bank and its asset register. Initiatives aimed at clients included the
review of hundreds of files to determine land mortgage statuses and return titles where necessary. 

Internal procedure improvements were also made throughout the year, these included implementing
standard operating procedures regarding the recording of guarantees and reviewing real property tax
payments before releasing the “Satisfaction of Mortgage” documents. 

LEGAL 

As the IT Department continued to research and evaluate the technical needs of
the organization to ensure that The Bank is in the position to meet the rigorous
demands of our customers and our robust staff, it became evident that the IT Team
needed to grow as well. At the end of 2021, a new IT Officer was hired to join the
team in the new year. 

Throughout the year, the Legal Department worked collaboratively with other
departments within The Bank to execute the sale of assets, create
Memorandums of Understandings, contracts and other legal documents, and
to determine BDB’s legal right to engage in other areas. 



ASSET MANAGEMENT 

1-30 Days 
34.7%

366+ Days 
32.2%

181 - 365 Days 
18.1% 121 - 180 Days 

7.1%

31-60 Days 
1.6%

Delinquency
Period

Loan Values # of
Accounts



  001-30

  



  $2,743,341.62

  



  16
  



  31-60

  



  $1,224,770.03

  



  12
  



  61-90

  



  $14,012.44

  



  1
  



  91-120

  



  $492,566.24

  



  1
  



  121-180

  



  $561,116.86

  



  7
  



  181-365

  



  $1,431,128.69

  



  13
  



  366+

  



  $2,546,017.64

  



  45

  

Delinquency Control
In 2019, The Bahamas Development Bank began efforts
to develop a structured and fiscally sound operational
framework for reducing delinquency by addressing a
litany of legacy issues. These efforts continued
throughout 2021 with the department focused on its
mandate of strategically reducing NAL to 10-15%,
collecting on written-off accounts, advertising
properties where necessary, assisting with overseeing
appraisals and carrying out site visits. By the end of the
year, the NAL rate stood at 56% with 66 accounts. 
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Asset Liquidation
A significant amount of interest was expressed in purchasing distressed properties. Asset Management
has consistently worked with the Legal Department to ensure the legitimacy of distressed properties
before advertising. Once approvals were given, advertisements were made with updates to BDB’s
website. Sales will be a major focus for the department in the following year. 

Hotel Properties
The Bank portfolio currently contains eight Bone Fish Lodges valued in excess of $3M. The noted lodges
are in Andros, Abaco, Eleuthera, Cat Island, and Long Island respectively. The Bank also holds additional
land valued in excess of $4M.

Loan Portfolio Delinquency Segmentation
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BAHAMAS DEVELOPMENT BANK 
Statement of Comprehensive Operations  
(Expressed in Bahamian dollars) 
 
Year ended 31 December 2021 
 Notes 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
INTEREST INCOME    

Loans 7 629,706 1,252,450 
Investments  6 352,276 624,726 
Interest subsidy 14, 24 280,386 281,834 
Deposits 5 2,784 5,588 
  1,265,152 2,164,598 
Interest expense 10, 12, 13 (1,691,303) (1,731,974) 
    

NET INTEREST (LOSS) INCOME  (   426,151) 432,624 
    

LOAN RECOVERY 7 248,631 260,689 
    
OTHER INCOME 17 357,272 375,574 
    
TOTAL INCOME, net of interest expense  179,752 1,068,887 
 
NON-INTEREST EXPENSES 

   

Staff costs 19, 21, 24 2,655,344 2,376,321 
Provision for expected credit losses 7, 29 1,662,575 406,157 
General and administrative costs 20, 29 1,173,210 1,060,189 
Depreciation and amortization 9 286,016 145,098 
Amortization - right-of-use asset 23 38,207 38,516 
  5,815,352 4,026,281 
    

NET LOSS BEFORE GOVERNMENT SUBSIDY  (5,635,600) (2,957,394) 
    

GOVERNMENT SUBSIDY 18, 24 3,488,844 1,759,411 
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR 

  
(2,146,756) 

 
(1,197,983) 

 
 
 
See accompanying notes. Independent Auditors’ Report pages 1 through 4. 
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BAHAMAS DEVELOPMENT BANK 
Statement of Changes in Capital Deficiency 
(Expressed in Bahamian dollars) 
 
Year ended 31 December 2021 
 Notes Share 

Capital 
$ 

Contributed 
Surplus 

$ 

Reserve 
Fund 

$ 

Accumulated 
Deficit 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 
Balance at 1 January 2020  28,960,255 25,821,130 273,128 (67,485,679) (12,431,166) 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  - - - (  1,197,983) (  1,197,983) 
Balance at 31 December 2020  28,960,255 25,821,130 273,128 (68,683,662) (13,629,149) 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  - - - (  2,146,756) (  2,146,756) 
 
Balance at 31 December 2021 

 
15, 16 28,960,255 25,821,130 

 
273,128 (70,830,418) 

 
(15,775,905) 

 
 
 
See accompanying notes. Independent Auditors’ Report pages 1 through 4. 
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BAHAMAS DEVELOPMENT BANK 
Statement of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in Bahamian dollars)  
 
Year ended 31 December 2021 

 
Notes 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN):    
    
OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Total comprehensive loss for the year  (2,146,756) (1,197,983) 
Adjustments for non-cash items: 8   
Interest income - loans 7 (   629,706) (1,252,450) 
Interest income - investments 6 (   352,276) (   624,726) 
Interest income - subsidy 14 (   280,386) (   281,834) 
Interest income - deposits 5 (       2,784) (       5,588) 
Interest expense - lease liability 23 4,347 4,528 
Interest expense - bonds payable 12 170,000 1,389,483 
Interest expense - loans payable 13 1,521,006 341,845 
Interest expense - customer deposits  10 297 646 
Provision for expected credit losses 7 1,662,575 406,157 
Depreciation and amortization 9 286,016 145,098 
Amortization - right-of-use asset 23 38,207 38,516 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    
(Increase) decrease in loans receivable, gross  (2,269,363) 1,327,222 
Decrease in prepayments and other assets  75,838 226,592 
Increase (decrease) in customer deposits  248,492 (1,656,470) 
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses  769,758 150,843 

Cash used in operations  (   904,735) (   988,121) 
Interest received  1,326,962 2,106,970 
Interest paid on bonds payable  (   539,639) (   927,066) 
Interest paid on loans payable 13 (1,143,044) (   471,278) 
Interest paid on customer deposits   (          108) (       5,174) 

Net cash used in operating activities  (1,260,564) (   284,669) 
 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

   

Acquisitions of fixed assets 9 (1,083,573) (   850,669) 
Purchases of investments at amortized cost 6 (     50,000) - 
Proceeds from maturity of investments at amortized cost 6 3,581,428 1,500,000 

Net cash provided by investing activities  2,447,855 649,331 
    
FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Repayments of loans during the year 13 (1,135,588) (   371,553) 
Lease payments during the year 23 (     42,000) (     42,000) 
Increase in due from the Bahamas Government  (1,251,437) (   718,149) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (2,429,025) (1,131,702) 

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
 

 
 

(1,241,734) 
 

 (   767,040) 
    
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year  3,701,834 4,468,874 
    
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF THE YEAR 5, 27 2,460,100 3,701,834 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes. Independent Auditors’ Report pages 1 through 4. 
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BAHAMAS DEVELOPMENT BANK 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 
31 December 2021 
 
1.  GENERAL INFORMATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

 
The Bahamas Development Bank (“the Bank”) was organized in accordance with the 
Bahamas Development Bank Act 1974 (“the Act”) and is wholly-owned by the Government 
of the Commonwealth of The Bahamas (“the Government”). 
 
The principal activities of the Bank are: 
 
 to promote industrial, agricultural and commercial development in the Commonwealth 

of The Bahamas through the financing of, or the investing in, approved enterprises; 
 to encourage the participation in approved enterprises by citizens of the 

Commonwealth of The Bahamas; and 
 generally to promote and enhance the economic development of the Commonwealth 

of The Bahamas. 
 
The Bank officially commenced its operations on 30 March 1978. The Bank’s registered 
head office is located at Robinson Road & Key West Street, Nassau, The Bahamas. The 
Bank also has one (1) branch located in Freeport, Grand Bahama Island. 
 

2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS AND GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION 

 
The Bank’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”) and are expressed in Bahamian dollars (“$”), the Bank’s functional currency. All 
amounts have been rounded to the nearest dollar, except when otherwise indicated. 
 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment 
in the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to estimates are recognized prospectively. The areas involving a higher degree 
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4. 
 
Going concern assumption and impact of Novel Coronavirus 2019 (“COVID-19”) 

pandemic 
  
These financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, as the Bank’s directors 
and management are satisfied that the Bank has the ability to continue in business for the 
foreseeable future with the continued assistance of the Government of The Bahamas. In 
making this assessment, a range of information relating to present and future conditions 
has been considered, including projections of profitability, cash flows, and capital 
requirements. These considerations include the impact that the global COVID-19 
pandemic has had, and continue to have, on the Bank’s operations. 
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BAHAMAS DEVELOPMENT BANK 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 
31 December 2021 
 
2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 

STANDARDS AND GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION (continued) 
 
Going concern assumption and impact of Novel Coronavirus 2019 (“COVID-19”) 

pandemic (continued) 
 
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic due to COVID-
19. This pandemic affected the Bank’s operations during the last quarter of the prior year 
and continues to impact the Bank in the current year. The restrictions imposed by the 
Government on certain businesses, national events, and activities, the periods of 
community lockdown and curfew, the significant increase in unemployment, and the 
historic decline in tourism severely reduced the economic activities of the Bank, the Bank’s 
customers, the industry and the country, as a whole. These sectors required the Bank to 
continuously adjust to the diverse challenges posed by the impact of this pandemic.  
 
The on-going impact on the Bank’s operations and financial statements during the year are 
as follows:  
Financial Statement area Description of Impact 
Bank’s operations and 
organizational changes 

The Bank continues to seek funding from other 
financial institutions such as Green Climate Fund 
("GCF"), Caribbean Development Bank ("CDB"), Inter-
American Development Bank ("IDB") etc. The Bank 
also continues to depend on funding from The 
Government who appointed a new board of directors, 
which commenced in February 2022. 

Cash and deposits with banks 
including fixed deposits and related 
income. 

The Bank withdrew a portion of investments to meet the 
working capital requirements. Customer’s deposits are 
constant and there were a few loan payout and 
liquidation of assets resulting in sale of properties. 
 
Additionally, the Government committed an amount of 
$4 million for the Bank for the 2021/2022 fiscal period. 
As of the audit report date, the Bank has not received 
the Government’s committed funds. 
 
 

Loans receivable The Bank continues to approve and disburse new 
loans. The Bank adjusted the allowance for expected 
credit loss as amount due to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
and has since resumed the collection efforts. 

Staff costs Staff salaries and other benefits increased due to hiring 
of additional staff and key management personnel.  

Other expenses The Bank’s technology capital expense increased as 
most of the staff worked from home during the past 12 
months. In addition, the Bank incurred a significant 
amount of expenses to ensure that its staff are in safe 
and healthy environment on a consistent basis. 
(security, sanitizing, cleaning and testing etc.). 

 
These factors negatively impacted the Bank’s results of operations and increase the 
provision for loan impairment and expected credit loss expenses in both years 2021 and 
2020. As a result, the Bank incurred a total comprehensive loss of $2,146,756 for the year 
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: $1,197,983) and, as of that date, the Bank's liabilities 
exceeded its assets by $15,775,905 (2020: $13,629,149) and had an accumulated deficit 
of $70,830,418 as at 31 December 2021 (2020: $68,683,662).  
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BAHAMAS DEVELOPMENT BANK 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 
31 December 2021 

 
2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 

STANDARDS AND GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION (continued) 
 
Going concern assumption and impact of Novel Coronavirus 2019 (“COVID-19”) 

pandemic (continued) 
 
However, the directors and management are satisfied that the Bank is currently a going 
concern and that the preparation of these accounts on that basis is appropriate since the 
Bank continues to receive financing from the government of The Bahamas. The Bank will 
continue to rely on the Government’s support in the foreseeable future. 
 

3. NEW OR REVISED STANDARDS OR INTERPRETATIONS 
 

New and revised standards that are effective for accrual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2021: 

 
The Bank has adopted the following new interpretations, revisions and amendments to 
IFRS issued by the IASB, which are relevant to and effective for the Bank’s financial 
statements for the annual period beginning 1 January 2021: 

 
 COVID-19 related rent concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (Amendments to IFRS 16) 

and; 
 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, International 

Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16). 
 

These amendments do not have a significant impact on these financial statements and 
therefore disclosures have not been made.  
 
Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet 

effective and have not been adopted early by the Bank 
 
At the date of authorization of these financial statements, several new, but not yet effective, 
Standards and amendments to existing Standards, and Interpretations have been 
published by the IASB. None of these Standards or amendments to existing Standards 
have been adopted early by the Bank. Information on those expected to be relevant to the 
Bank’s financial statements is provided below. 
 
Management anticipates that all relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Bank’s 
accounting policies for the first period beginning after the effective date of the 
pronouncement. New standards, interpretations and amendments not either adopted or 
listed below are not expected to have a material impact on the Bank’s financial statements. 
 
 IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts; 
 Amendments to IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts (Amendments to IFRS 17 and IFRS 4); 
 References to the Conceptual Framework; 
 Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16); 
 Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37); 
 Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle (Amendments to IFRS 1, 

IFRS 9, IFRS 16, IAS 41); 
 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1); and 
 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities from a Single Transaction.  
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31 December 2021 

 
3. NEW OR REVISED STANDARDS OR INTERPRETATIONS (continued) 
 

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet 
effective and have not been adopted early by the Bank (continued) 
 
These amendments are not expected to have a significant impact on the financial 
statements in the period of initial application and therefore the disclosures have not been 
made.  
 

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Presentation of Financial Statements 
 

The Financial Statements are presented in accordance with IAS 1, Presentation of 
Financial Statements (Revised 2007). The Bank has elected to present the “Statement of 
Comprehensive Operations” in one statement.  

 
Management’s use of estimates and judgments 
 
The Bank uses accounting estimates and assumptions in the preparation of financial 
statements. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of 
current events and transactions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. 
The effect of any changes in estimates will be continually evaluated and are based on 
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
The following presents a summary of these significant estimates and judgments: 
 
Estimates 
 
Estimation of provision for expected credit losses on loans receivable 
 
The allowance for expected credit losses represent management’s estimate of an asset’s 
expected credit losses (ECL). The measurement of the ECL allowance for financial assets 
is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about 
future economic conditions and credit behavior (e.g., the likelihood of customers defaulting 
and the resulting losses). 
 
ECL is defined as the weighted expected probable value of the discounted credit loss 
(principal and interest) determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes and future 
economic conditions. It represents the present value of the difference between the 
contractual cash flows and the expected cash flows (including principal and interest). 
 
The process for determining the allowance involves significant quantitative and qualitative 
assessments. Particularly, a number of significant judgments are also required in applying 
the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as: 
 
 Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk; 
 Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL; 
 Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each 

type of product/market and the associated ECL; 
 Assessing the risk rating and impaired status of loans; 
 Estimating cash flows and realizable collateral values; 

 



 

 

13 
 

BAHAMAS DEVELOPMENT BANK 
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Management’s use of estimates and judgments (continued) 
 
Estimates (continued) 
 
Estimation of provision for expected credit losses on loans receivable (continued) 

 
 Developing default and loss rates based on historical data; 
 Estimating the impact of this historical data by changes in policies, processes, and 

credit strategies; 
 Assessing the current credit quality based on credit quality trends; and 
 Determining the current position in the economic cycle. 

 
The level of estimation uncertainty and judgement for the calculation of ECL has increased 
as a result of the economic effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. Explanation of the inputs, 
assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring ECL is further detailed in Note 
27. 
 
Provision for expected credit losses incurred during the year amounted to $1,662,575 
(2020: $406,157). The carrying values of the Bank’s loans receivables, net of allowance 
for expected credit losses as at 31 December 2021 amounted to $15,668,074 (2020: 
$15,212,786). 
 
Estimation of useful lives of fixed assets 
 
The Bank estimates the useful lives of its fixed assets based on the period over which the 
assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful lives of the fixed assets 
are reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates 
due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other 
limits on the use of the assets. In addition, estimation of the useful lives of the fixed assets 
is based on the collective assessment of industry practice, internal technical evaluation 
and experience with similar assets. It is possible, however, that future results of operations 
could be materially affected by changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors 
mentioned above. The amounts of timing of recorded expenses for any period would be 
affected by changes in these factors and circumstances. 
 
Net carrying values of fixed assets amounted to $3,427,160 as at 31 December 2021 
(2020: $2,629,603).  
 
Fair value of financial instruments 
 
IFRS 13 requires that the classification of financial instruments at fair value be determined 
by reference to the source of inputs used to derive the fair value. This classification uses 
three-level hierarchy as disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.  
 
Recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies 
 
Management uses key assumptions about the likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of 
resources to determine adequate provisions or disclosures in the Bank’s financial 
statements. 
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Management’s use of judgments and estimates (continued) 
 
Judgments 
 
Taxes 
 
On 1 January 2015, the Government of The Bahamas implemented the Value Added Tax 
(“VAT”) regime, with three (3) categories for goods and services, which includes two rates 
of VAT of 7.5% and 0% and the third category classified as Exempt. On 1 July 2018, the 
VAT rate was increased from 7.5% to 12%. The Bank has registered with the Ministry of 
Finance and is a VAT registrant and is obligated to comply with the Act and Associated 
Regulations.  
 
Income that is subject to tax is recognized gross of the taxes and the corresponding 
withholding tax is recognized as an expense in the statement of comprehensive operations. 
No other taxes are applicable to the Bank.  

 
Operating lease commitments - Bank as a lessee  
 
For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 January 2020, the Bank considers whether 
a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as “a contract, or part of a contract, 
that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration”. To apply this definition, the Bank assesses whether the contract meets 
three key evaluations which are whether:  
 
 The contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the 

contract or implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available 
to the Bank;  

 The Bank has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of 
the identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the 
defined scope of the contract; or  

 The Bank has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of 
use. The Bank assesses whether it has the right to direct “how and for what purpose” 
the asset is used throughout the period of use.  

 
The Bank has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using 
the practical expedients. Instead of recognizing a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the 
payments in relation to these are recognized as an expense in the statement of 
comprehensive operations on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Bank has 
entered into an operating lease for its Freeport, Grand Bahama branch for a term of three 
(3) years and has accounted a right-of-use asset and lease liability during the lease term 
(see Note 23).  
 
Principal versus agent considerations  
 
The Bank enters into a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) and/or agency services 
agreements with different government agencies (“the Program Sponsors”) - e.g., the 
Ministry of Finance (“MOF”), Small Business Development Center (“SBDC”), and 
Ministry of Labor and National Insurance. Under these MOUs and agency services 
agreements, the Bank determined that it does not control the services before they are 
transferred to the program beneficiaries.  
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Management’s use of estimates and judgments (continued) 
 
Judgments (continued) 
 
Principal versus agent considerations (continued) 
 
These programs are loans and subsidies to specific parties as outlined in their respective 
programs. In prior years, these transactions are not recorded in the Bank's financial 
statements except for the Executing Agency Services - Mailboat Service Contract 
Payments program. The Bank represented that these transactions - e.g., receipts and 
disbursements of funds are not recorded in the Bank's financial statements as the Bank 
is only acting as administrator or an agent of the Program Sponsors.  
 
The following factors indicate that the Bank does not control the services before they are 
transferred to customers:  
 

 The Bank does not carry the credit risk for these loans and has not evaluated 
and recorded impairment on these loans in the Bank's financial statements.  

 
 The Bank earns an administration fee for administering these programs; 

however, the Bank has no discretion in establishing the price for the specified 
service.  

 
Therefore, the Bank determined that it is an agent in these contracts. The details of the 
different programs are disclosed in Note 25 to these financial statements. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and at banks, together with term 
deposits, which are short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 
Investments at amortized cost  
 
These investments include deposits or reserve required by the terms of any agreement 
entered by the Bank. Restrictions may include legally restricted deposits held as 
compensating balances against short-term and/or long-term borrowing arrangements, 
contracts entered into with others, or company statements of intention with regard to 
particular deposits. 
 
Financial instruments 
 
Recognition and derecognition 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Bank becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial assets are derecognized 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the 
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability 
is derecognized when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled, or expired. 

 
 



 

 

16 
 

BAHAMAS DEVELOPMENT BANK 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 
31 December 2021 
 
4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 
Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets 
 
Except for those receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are 
measured at the transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for 
transaction costs (where applicable).  

 
Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are 
classified into the following categories:  
 
 amortized cost;  
 fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL); and  
 fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).  
 
In the periods presented, the Bank had no financial assets categorized as FVTPL and 
FVOCI.  
 
The classification is determined by both:  
 
 the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset; and  
 contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset  
 
All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognized in the statement 
of comprehensive operations are presented within net interest loss and provision for 
expected credit losses.  

 
Subsequent measurement of financial assets  
 
Financial assets at amortized cost 
 
Financial assets are measured at amortized cost if the assets meet the following conditions 
(and are not designated as FVTPL):  

 
 they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets and 

collect its contractual cash flows; and  
 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  
 
After initial recognition, these are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.  
 
As at 31 December 2021, the Bank’s cash and cash equivalents, investments, at amortized 
cost, loans receivable, due from the Bahamas Government, interest receivable net, and 
other assets fall into this category. 
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Financial instruments (continued) 

 
Impairment of loans receivable 
 
IFRS 9’s impairment requirements use more forward-looking information to recognize 
expected credit losses - the “expected credit loss (“ECL”) model”. This replaces IAS 39’s 
“incurred loss model”. Instruments within the scope of the new requirements included loans 
and other debt-type financial assets measured at amortized cost and FVOCI, trade 
receivables, contract assets recognized and measured under IFRS 15 and loan 
commitments and some financial guarantee contracts (for the issuer) that are not 
measured at fair value through profit or loss.  
 
Recognition of credit losses is no longer dependent on the Bank first identifying a credit 
loss event. Instead the Bank considers a broader range of information when assessing 
credit risk and measuring expected credit losses, including past events, current conditions, 
reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future 
cash flows of the instrument.  
 
In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:  
 
 financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 

recognition or that have low credit risk (“Stage 1”);  
 financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 

recognition and whose credit risk is not low (“Stage 2”); and  
 “Stage 3” would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at 

the reporting date. “12-month expected credit losses” are recognized for the first 
category while “lifetime expected credit losses” are recognized for the second 
category.  

 
Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted 
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument.  
 
Impairment of other assets  
 
The Bank makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for other assets and records 
the loss allowance as lifetime expected credit losses. Assessment of expected credit losses 
is made for accounts especially identified to be doubtful of collection.  
 
The level of the allowance is evaluated by management on the basis of factors that affect 
the collectability of the accounts such as the length of relationship with the debtor, credit 
status of debtor based on third party reports, and historical experience and over a 12-month 
period.  
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities  
 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, 
cancelled or has expired. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from 
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of 
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of comprehensive operations.  
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Financial instruments (continued) 

 
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities  
 
As the accounting for financial liabilities remains largely the same under IFRS 9 compared 
to IAS 39, the Bank’s financial liabilities were not impacted by the adoption of IFRS 9. 
However, for completeness, the accounting policy is disclosed below.  
 
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for 
transaction costs unless the Bank designated a financial liability at fair value through profit 
or loss.  
 
Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method except for derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which 
are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognized in profit or loss (other 
than derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedging 
instruments). All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair 
value that are reported in the statement of comprehensive operations are included within 
interest expense. 
 
The Bank’s financial liabilities include customer deposits, accounts payable and accrued 
expenses, interest payable, lease liability, bonds payable, and loans payable, which are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Discounting, however, 
is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.  

 
Fixed assets 
 
Fixed assets are initially recognized at cost less depreciation in the statement of financial 
position. Cost includes the value of consideration exchanged, or fair value in the case of 
donated or subsidized assets, and those costs directly attributable to bringing the item to 
working condition for its intended use. 
 
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of fixed asset is capitalized to the initial cost of 
the item when the expenditure increases the economic benefits over the life of the item or 
where that expenditure was necessarily incurred to enable the future economic benefits to 
be obtained and the expenditure would have been included in the initial cost of the item 
had the expenditure been incurred at the time of acquisition. 
 
All other subsequent expenditures are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis using the following estimated useful lives: 

 
  Building and building improvements - 30 years 
  Furniture, fixtures & improvements - 10 years 
  Motor vehicles  -   5 years 
  Computer software and equipment -   5 years 
  Office machines & equipment -   5 years 
   

When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the costs and related accumulated 
depreciation and amortization are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or 
loss is credited or charged to operations. 
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
  

Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
An assessment is made at each statement of the financial position date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment of any assets, or whether there is any 
indication that an impairment loss previously recognized for an asset in prior years may no 
longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable 
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is computed as the higher of the 
asset’s value in use or its net selling price. 
 
An impairment loss is recognized only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is charged to operations in the period which it 
arises unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment is 
charged to the revaluation increment of the said asset. 
 
A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of an asset, however, not to an 
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any 
depreciation), had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. 
 
A reversal of impairment loss is credited to the statement of comprehensive operations. 

 
Right-of-use of asset and leases  
 
Bank as a lessee  
 
Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee  
 
At lease commencement date, the Bank recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability 
on the balance sheet. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the 
initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Bank, an 
estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any 
lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives 
received).  
 
The Bank depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or 
the end of the lease term. The Bank also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment 
when such indicators exist.  
 
At the commencement date, the Bank measures the lease liability at the present value of 
the lease payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the 
lease if that rate is readily available or the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease 
payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments 
(including in substance fixed), amounts expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised.  
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Bank as a lessee (continued) 
 
Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (continued) 
 
Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made. It is 
remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-
substance fixed payments. When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding 
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset 
is already reduced to zero.  
 
On the statement of financial position, right-of-use assets and lease liability are presented 
as separate line items (see Note 23). 
 
Customer deposits 
 
Customer deposits are recognized when the Bank has a legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of past events, and it is probable that a payment will be required to settle the 
obligation. 

 
Loans payable 
 
Loans payable are long-term loans and initially recognized at fair value, net of issue costs 
incurred, and are subsequently recognized at amortized cost. Any difference between net 
proceeds and the redemption value is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 
operations over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method. 
 
Bonds payable 
 
Bonds payable are initially recognized at fair value, net of issue costs incurred, and are 
subsequently recognized at amortized cost. Any difference between net proceeds and the 
redemption value is recognized in the statement of comprehensive operations over the 
period of the borrowing using the effective interest method. 
 
Income and expenses  
 
Income arises mainly from the fees earned in providing administration and corporate 
services. Typically, fees are billed once they are earned and therefore there is no 
contractual obligation or pre-payment of fees beyond this time frame.  
 
To determine whether to recognize revenue, the Bank follows a 5-step process:  
 
1. Identifying the contract with a customer;  
2. Identifying the performance obligations;  
3. Determining the transaction price;  
4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations; and  
5. Recognizing revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied.  
 
The Bank often enters into transactions involving a range of the Bank’s services such as 
interest income, fees and commissions income. 
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Income and expenses (continued) 
 
In all cases, the total transaction price for services rendered is allocated amongst the 
various services performed and based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The 
transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties.  
Income is recognized either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Bank satisfies 
performance obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to its customers. 
 
Interest income and expense are recognized using the effective interest method. Interest 
subsidy is recognized as income in the period in which the conditions attached to them 
have been satisfied. These amounts are presented gross in the statement of 
comprehensive operations. 
 
All other income and expenses are recognized on the accrual basis of accounting. 
 
Revenue and expenses  
 
Interest on loans 
 
Interest on loans is accrued and credited to income based on the principal amount 
outstanding. Interest income is only accrued on performing loans. The Bank considers 
those loans with arrears amounting to less than three months normal activity as performing. 
 
Accrual of interest on loans classified as non-performing is discontinued and previously 
recorded, but unpaid interest is reversed and charged against current operations. 
 
Interest income on non-performing loans is recognized only when received or when the 
loan is refinanced and projected cash proceeds are deemed sufficient to repay both 
principal and interest. 

 
Other income and expense 
 
Other income and expense are recognized on an accrual basis. 
 
Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets  
 
Provisions are recognized when present obligations as a result of a past event will probably 
lead to an outflow of economic resources from the Bank and amounts can be estimated 
reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain. A present obligation arises 
from the presence of a legal or constructive commitment that has resulted from past events, 
for example, product warranties granted legal disputes or onerous contracts. Restructuring 
provisions are recognized only if a detailed formal plan for the restructuring has been 
developed and implemented, or management has at least announced the plan's main 
features to those affected by it. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.  
 
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including 
the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Where there are a 
number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is 
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are discounted 
to their present values, where the time value of money is material. 
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Defined contribution pension plan 
 
The Bank pays fixed contributions into an independent entity in relation to a pension plan 
for its qualified employees. The Bank has no legal or constructive obligations to pay 
contributions in addition to its fixed contributions, which are recognized as an expense in 
the statement of comprehensive operations in the period that relevant employee services 
are received. 

 
 Defined benefit plan 
 

The Bank continues to administer the Defined Benefit Pension Plan for existing retirees. 
The members will be paid monthly pension and lump sum benefits in accordance with the 
rules of the Defined Benefit Retirement Plan. 

 
The cost of providing such benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, 
with actuarial valuations being carried out on a regular basis. Remeasurements are 
recognized in other comprehensive income when they occur. Past service cost is 
recognized immediately in the period of a plan amendment or curtailment. 
 
The asset or liability amount recognized in the statement of financial position represents 
the present value of the defined benefit obligation and the current service cost at the end 
of the reporting period less, the fair value of plan assets. 
 
Related party transactions 
 
Transactions between related parties are based on terms similar to those offered to non- 
related parties. The parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly 
or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party 
in making financial and operating decisions and the parties are subject to common control 
or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. 
 
Foreign currency transactions 
 
Transactions in currencies other than Bahamian dollars are recorded at the rates of 
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each statement of the financial 
position date, assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the statement of financial position date. Gains and 
losses arising on translation are included in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
Events after the reporting period 
 
Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the Bank’s 
position at the reporting date (adjusting event) are reflected in the financial statements. 
Post-reporting date events that are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when material 
to the Bank’s financial statements. 
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5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2021 is comprised of the following: 
 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
Cash at banks 1,897,141 3,142,694 
Term deposit 560,659 556,840 
Cash on hand 2,300 2,300 
 2,460,100 3,701,834 

 
The Bank earns interest on the term deposit at prevailing market interest rates. The 
average rate during the year ended 31 December 2021 was 0.10% (2020: 0.75%). Cash 
at banks do not earn interest. During the year, interest income earned and received on the 
term deposit amounted to $2,784 (2020: $5,588).  

 
6. INVESTMENTS, AT AMORTISED COST 

 
Investments, at amortized cost as at 31 December 2021 is comprised of the following: 

 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Fixed deposits  1,995,454 5,431,822 
Bahamas Government Registered Stocks 4,975,200 4,975,200 

 6,970,654 10,407,022 
 
The restricted and unrestricted portions of the investments as at 31 December 2021 are 
broken down as follows: 

 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Unrestricted fund 5,650,654 9,137,022 
Restricted sinking fund 1,270,000 1,270,000 
Restricted fixed deposit - corporate credit card collateral  50,000 - 
 6,970,654 10,407,022 
 
Movements in investments, at amortized cost during the year are as follows: 

 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Balance, beginning of the year 10,407,022 11,767,742 
Purchases of investments at amortized cost 50,000 - 
Proceeds from maturity of investments at amortized cost (  3,581,428) (  1,500,000) 
Interest income reinvested during the year 95,060 139,280 

 6,970,654 10,407,022 
 
In accordance with Section 19 of the Bahamas Development Bank Act, the Bank 
established a sinking fund for the partial redemption of the Series C bonds issued to the 
Central Bank of The Bahamas.  
  
The fixed-term deposits with a maturity of six (6) months to one (1) year earn interest at an 
annual rate of 0.10% to 1.75% (2020: 1% to 2%). The Bahamas Government Registered 
Stocks (“BGRS”) are held for long-term return and are stated at the amortized cost, which 
is approximately equal to its fair value. The BGRS bear interest at annual rates of 4.5% to 
5.03% and have maturity dates of 2024 through 2039. 
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6. INVESTMENTS, AT AMORTISED COST (continued) 
 

In 2020, the Trustees of the Bank’s sinking fund resolved that the full balance of the Bank’s 
sinking fund be released and a new sinking fund in accordance with the Act be established, 
in the amount of $1,270,000, for the satisfaction of the Central Bank of the Bahamas bonds 
totaling $4,000,000 that were scheduled to mature in 2025. The sinking fund is sufficient 
to meet the payment obligations for the next 12 months. The sinking fund should be 
invested in accordance with the established guidelines. 

 
In 2021, the Bank established and maintained a $50,000 fixed-term deposit with Bank of 
The Bahamas, as security to the Bank’s corporate credit card issued during the year. The 
corporate credit card has a limit of $50,000, subject to an annual interest rate of 18%. 
 
During the year, the Bank withdrew a total of $3,581,428 (2020: $1,500,000) from the fixed 
deposits which was used for operational purposes. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the 
Bank has met the requirements of the sinking fund.  

 
During the year, interest earned from investments, at amortized cost, by the Bank 
amounted to $352,276 (2020: $624,726), of which $503,143 was receivable as at 31 
December 2021 (2020: $511,297) and was included in interest receivable, net in the 
statement of financial position. 

 
7. LOANS RECEIVABLE, net 
 

Loans receivable, net (including accrued interest) as at 31 December 2021 is comprised 
of the following: 
 2021 2020 
 $ $ 
Performing 10,069,612 7,669,642 
Non-performing 8,289,245 6,238,715 
Extraordinary advances 1,085,388 899,696 
Employees 332,122 304,245 
COVID-19 affected loans - 2,394,706 
 19,776,367 17,507,004 
Accrued interest 384,969 536,469 
 20,161,336 18,043,473 
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (  4,493,262) (  2,830,687) 
 15,668,074 15,212,786 

 
Movements in loans receivable during the year are as follows: 
 2021 2020 
 $ $ 
Balance, beginning of the year 17,507,004 18,834,226 
Add: loans disbursed 3,694,292 1,252,405 
Less: loan repayments (  1,424,929) (  2,425,958) 
Less: loans written off - (     153,669) 
 19,776,367 17,507,004 
Add: accrued interest 384,969 536,469 
 20,161,336 18,043,473 
 
Less: allowance for expected credit losses 

 
(  4,493,262) 

 
(  2,830,687) 

Balance, end of the year 15,668,074 15,212,786 
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7. LOANS RECEIVABLE, net (continued) 

 
The outstanding loans earned interest at rates ranging from 0% to 8.50% per annum (2020: 0% to 8.50% per annum). During the year, 
the Bank earned interest on loans amounting to $629,706 (2020: $1,252,450), of which $384,969 was receivable as at 31 December 
2021 (2020: $536,469).  
 
During the year, loan recovery amounted to $248,631 (2020: $260,689). 
 
Movements in allowance for expected credit losses during the year were as follows: 

 2021 2020 
 $ $ 

At 1 January  2,830,687 2,578,199 
Provision for expected credit losses during the year      1,662,575 406,157 
Write-offs during the year                  - (   153,669) 

At 31 December 4,493,262 2,830,687 

 
The following is an aged analysis of all loans receivable as of the date of the statement of financial position: 

31 December 2021 Number of 
accounts 

Loans Collateral 
held 

Portion of loans 
not covered by 

collateral 

Loan loss 
provision 

Provision 
rate 

  $ $ $ $ % 

General provision       
Current loans 71 6,525,908 6,151,440 374,468 280,725 75 
1 to 30 days 10 2,054,438 1,551,728 502,710 97,896 19 
31 to 60 days 7 1,262,877 1,148,564 114,313 112,656 99 
61 to 90 days 3 419,478 241,282 178,196 62,610 35 
       

Specific provision       
91 to 365 days 21 2,445,966 2,755,650 - 811,447 - 
Over 365 days 46 5,982,312 7,380,301 - 1,790,898 - 
Extraordinary advances linked to inactive loans  1,085,388 128,491 956,897 957,113 100 

  19,776,367 19,357,456 2,126,584 4,113,345 - 
Allowance for expected credit losses on interest  - - - 379,917 - 

  19,776,367 19,357,456 2,126,584 4,493,262 - 
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7. LOANS RECEIVABLE, net (continued) 

 
31 December 2020 Number of 

accounts 
Loans Collateral 

held 
Portion of loans 
not covered by 

collateral 

Loan loss 
provision 

Provision 
rate 

  $ $ $ $ % 
General provision       

Current loans 88 8,881,962 4,993,595 3,888,367 444,098 11 
1 to 30 days 8 624,612 407,328 217,284 31,230 14 
31 to 60 days 8 895,525 637,018 258,507 89,552 35 
61 to 90 days 2 112,909 92,209 20,700 16,936 82 
       

Specific provision       
91 to 365 days 23 1,655,125 1,286,352 368,773 368,773 100 
Over 365 days 102 4,740,509 3,914,671 825,838 825,838 100 
Extraordinary advances linked to inactive loans  596,362 - 596,362 596,363 100 

  17,507,004 11,331,173 6,175,831 2,372,790 - 
Allowance for expected credit losses on interest  - - - 457,897 - 
  17,507,004 11,331,173 6,175,831 2,830,687 - 

 
8. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS 
 

Prepayments and other assets, as at 31 December 2021 is comprised of the following: 
 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
VAT receivable 294,560 286,332 
Offset loans 166,216 166,216 
Prepayments 58,923 42,122 
Accounts receivable 28,600 106,806 
Others 18,340 29,694 
Security deposits 8,605 8,900 
 575,244 640,070 
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (   294,560) (  286,332) 
 280,684 353,738 
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9. FIXED ASSETS, net 
 
 Fixed assets as at 31 December 2021 is comprised of the following: 

 Land Building and 
building 

Improvements 

Computer 
 Software and 

Equipment 

Furniture, 
Fixtures and 

Improvements 

Office 
Machines and 

Equipment 

Motor 
Vehicles 

Total 

 $ $ $ $  $ $ 
Cost:        

Balances 1 January 2020 480,000 964,069 2,143,516 1,459,772 544,116 24,996 5,616,469 
Additions - 493,798 108,385 225,870 - 22,616        850,669 
Balances 31 December 2020 480,000 1,457,867 2,251,901 1,685,642 544,116 47,612 6,467,138 
Additions - 884,425 154,150 25,808 19,190 -     1,083,573 
Balances 31 December 2021 480,000 2,342,292 2,406,051 1,711,450 563,306 47,612 7,550,711 

        
Balances 1 January 2020 - 2,567 1,824,985 1,333,903 527,650 3,332 3,692,437 
Depreciation and amortization - 32,343 64,546 33,676 7,620 6,913 145,098 
Balances 31 December 2020 - 34,910 1,889,531 1,367,579 535,270 10,245 3,837,535 
Depreciation and amortization - 60,660 81,556 126,136 8,193 9,471 286,016 
Balances 31 December 2021 - 95,570 1,971,087 1,493,715 543,463 19,716 4,123,551 
        

Net carrying values:        
31 December 2021 480,000 2,246,722 434,964 217,735 19,843 27,896 3,427,160 
31 December 2020 480,000 1,422,957 362,370 318,063 8,846 37,367 2,629,603 

 
10. CUSTOMER DEPOSITS 
 
 Customer deposits as at 31 December 2021 is comprised of the following: 

 2021 2020 
 $ $ 
Mailboat subsidy - Ministry of Transport (see Note 25) 1,068,598 762,200 
Other customer deposits and advances 354,794 441,648 
Security deposits held as collateral for loans 200,852 152,403 
Agriculture Program - Grand Bahama 8,723 28,723 
Insurance premiums 885 197 
 1,633,852 1,385,171 
 
During the year, interest expense incurred by the Bank on the customer deposits amounted to $297 (2020: $646), of which $275 
was payable as at 31 December 2021 (2020: $86). 
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11. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES 
 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses as at 31 December 2021 are comprised of the 
following: 

 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Accounts payable 1,012,200 381,304 
Accrued expenses 451,761 312,099 

 1,463,961 693,403 
 
12. BONDS PAYABLE 
 

As at 31 December 2021, the Bank had the following Bahamas Government guaranteed 
bonds issued to The Central Bank of The Bahamas as follows: 
Bond No. Series Issue Date Year of 

Maturity 
Rate 

% 
2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
10 C 13 July 2005 2025 4.25 2,000,000 2,000,000 
11 C 17 October 2005 2025 4.25 1,000,000 1,000,000 
12 C 19 October 2005 2025 4.25 1,000,000 1,000,000 

     4,000,000 4,000,000 
 
During the year, interest expense incurred by the Bank on the bonds amounted to $170,000 
(2020: $1,389,483), of which $92,778 (2020: $462,417) was payable as at 31 December 
2021. 
 
The classification of the bonds payable as at 31 December 2021 is as follows: 
 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
Current portion - - 
Non-current portion 4,000,000 4,000,000 
 4,000,000 4,000,000 

 
13. LOANS PAYABLE 

 
Loans payable as at 31 December 2021 is comprised of the following: 
 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
National Insurance Board 37,156,896 38,167,484 
The Central Bank of The Bahamas 1,875,000 2,000,000 
 39,031,896 40,167,484 

 
Movements in loans payable during the year were as follows: 
 2020 

$ 
Additions 

$ 
Payments 

 $ 
2021 

$ 
National Insurance Board 38,167,484 - (1,010,588) 37,156,896 
The Central Bank of The Bahamas 2,000,000 - (   125,000) 1,875,000 
Total principal 40,167,484 - (1,135,588) 39,031,896 
 
Accrued interest 

 
250,126 

 
1,521,006 

 
(1,143,044) 

 
628,088 
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13. LOANS PAYABLE (continued) 
  

During the year, interest expense incurred by the Bank on the loans amounted to $1,521,006 
(2020: $341,845), of which $628,088 (2020: $250,126) was payable as at 31 December 
2021. 

 
 The loans payable maturity is as follows: 

 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Due within one year 2,127,578 1,604,187 
Due within two (2) to five (5) years 7,229,629 6,987,333 
Due after five (5) years 29,674,689 31,575,964 

 39,031,896 40,167,484 
 

 The Central Bank of The Bahamas 
 
As at 31 December 2021, the Bank had an outstanding loan of $1,875,000 (2020: 
$2,000,000) with the Central Bank of The Bahamas. The loan bears interest at 2.00% per 
annum. The loan is repayable in semi-annual instalments of $125,000 and is due to be fully 
repaid by 28 October 2028. During the year, the Bank paid an amount of $125,000 (2020: 
$250,000) on the loan. 
 
National Insurance Board 
 
Loan - Office Building 
 
As at 31 December 2021, the Bank had an outstanding loan of $1,084,343 (2020: 
$1,167,484) with the National Insurance Board which was used for the purchase of the office 
building. The loan bears interest at 4.50% per annum, is repayable in quarterly installments 
and is due to be fully repaid on 15 September 2029. During the year, the Bank paid an 
amount of $83,141 (2020: $106,602) on its principal. 
 
Bonds converted to Loans 
 
The Government of The Bahamas approved the conversion of the $37,000,000 bonds with 
the National Insurance Board to a 20-year loan during the year ended 31 December 2020. 
As at 31 December 2021, the outstanding loan balance was $36,072,553 (2020: 
$37,000,000). The loan bears interest at a rate of 3.94% per annum, repayable in quarterly 
installments and is due to be fully repaid in 2040. 
 

14. DUE FROM THE BAHAMAS GOVERNMENT 
 
Due from the Bahamas Government as at 31 December 2021 is comprised of the following: 

 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Balance, beginning of the year 709,471 (    8,678) 
Government subsidy receivable (see Note 18) 670,574 - 
Interest subsidy  280,386 281,834 
Administration fee - mailboat operators (see Note 25) 210,885 183,475 
Salaries paid 89,592 88,407 
Government guarantee claims - 164,433 
Balance, end of the year 1,960,908 709,471 
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14. DUE FROM THE BAHAMAS GOVERNMENT (continued) 

 
The principal and interest payments on bonds and loans payable during the year amounting 
to $2,832,709 (2020: $1,759,411) are subsidized by the Bahamas Government. The 
Government has agreed to pay the long-term debts of the Bank until further notice. 
 
During 2001, the Government mandated that the lending rate for the Bank should range 
between 1.00% and 2.50% above the prime rate depending on risk factors. Following that 
requirement, the Government agreed to subsidize the difference between the Bank’s lending 
rate and the Bank’s normal spread of 5.00%. 
 
Furthermore, the Government agreed to guarantee claims and interest subsidy. During the 
year, interest subsidy income and the Government guarantee claims amounted to $280,386 
and Nil respectively (2020: $281,834, and $164,433 respectively). 
 
Additionally, the Government agreed for the Bank to apply administrative fees to facilitate the 
Government’s Mailboat subsidy on behalf of the Ministry of Transport and Aviation. The fee 
of 2.50% applied during the year amounted to $210,885 (2020: $183,475). 
 
As at 31 December 2021, the Bank had a receivable of government subsidy amounting to 
$670,574, which was collected in Q1 of 2022. 
 
Due from (to) the Bahamas Government is interest - free and unsecured. 

 
15. SHARE CAPITAL  
 

Share capital as at 31 December 2021 is comprised of the following: 
 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
Authorized   

10,000,000 shares of $5 each 50,000,000 50,000,000 
Issued and fully paid   

5,792,051 shares of $5 each 28,960,255 28,960,255 
 
16. RESERVE FUND 

 
Under Section 20 of the Act, the Bank is to set aside each year, a minimum of 25% of net 
profits (if any) to a Reserve Fund to meet contingencies and for other purposes for which it 
may be required. As at 31 December 2021, the total amount of Reserve Fund was $273,128 
(2020: $273,128). 
 

17. OTHER INCOME 
 

Other income as at 31 December 2021 consists of the following: 
 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
Fees and commissions 349,311 371,097 
Other 7,961 4,266 
Net foreign exchange - 211 

 357,272 375,574 
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18.  GOVERNMENT SUBSIDY 
 

The Government agreed to pay the capital and interest expense on the Bank’s loans and 
bonds payable. In 2021, the Bank earned $3,488,844 (2020: $1,759,411), of which $670,574 
was outstanding as at 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil). 

 
19. STAFF COSTS 
 

Staff costs as at 31 December 2021 consist of the following: 
 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
Salaries 1,979,551 1,784,490 
NIB, pension, and insurance (see Note 21) 397,651 387,490 
Staff benefits and other 184,672 105,038 
Director’s expenses 93,470 99,303 

 2,655,344 2,376,321 
 

20. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS 
 
General and administrative costs as at 31 December 2021 consist of the following: 

 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Miscellaneous 269,236 58,320 
Telephone, telex and cable 138,755 67,775 
Repairs and maintenance 102,405 83,379 
Professional fees 91,285 172,162 
Security expense 80,511 23,662 
Computer expenses 78,558 69,754 
Subscriptions and entertainment 66,560 33,262 
Travel and transportation 59,938 26,813 
Advertising 53,135 73,142 
Other expenses 46,840 4,528 
Utilities 42,415 34,098 
Bank charges 35,651 14,987 
Executive allowances 28,800 32,120 
Insurance 25,770 16,266 
Rent 24,040 50,563 
Office supplies and printing 21,083 13,026 
Provision for VAT receivable 8,228 286,332 

 1,173,210 1,060,189 
 
General and administrative costs include rent expenses amounting to $24,040 (2020: 
$50,563), which consists of storage charges of $10,040, and payments to the Hotel 
Corporation of the Bahamas amounting to $14,000 during the year. The Bank has applied 
the exemption on IFRS16 for this transaction due to the relative short term nature of the 
said lease. 
 

Other expenses include the estimation of interest costs on defined benefit pension plan 
obligation (See Note 22), and leases during the year amounting to $42,493, and $4,347 
respectively (2020: Nil, and $4,528 respectively). 
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21. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLAN 

 
On 1 February 2011, the Bank changed its pension plan from a Defined Benefit Plan to 
Defined Contribution Plan where both the Bank (employer) and the employees will contribute 
5% of their equivalent gross salary.  
 
Employees have the option to contribute additional sums voluntarily. Employees who were 
already retired at the time of change were kept under the Defined Benefit Plan. (see Note 
22). 
 
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, all funds were administered by Colina Financial Advisors 
Limited.  
 
Pension contributions during the year amounted to $70,995 (2020: $88,537), which is 
included in NIB, pension and insurance expenses, as disclosed in Note 19.  
 

22. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN OBLIGATIONS 
 
An independent actuarial valuation of the Bank’s defined benefit pension plan was performed 
for the year ended 31 December 2017. Based on management’s valuation, there is no 
significant change on the pension plan benefit obligation during the year. The movements in 
the non-contributory defined benefit obligation are as follows: 

 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Present value of obligation, beginning of the year 593,141 659,758 
Interest cost (see Note 20) 42,493 - 
Benefits paid out of the operating fund      (   88,268) (  66,617) 
Returns on plan asset received by the operating fund 44,975 - 
Present value of obligation, end of the year 592,341 593,141 
   
 
 

2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of the year 400,000 400,000 
Expected return on plan assets - - 
Benefits paid - - 
Actuarial loss on plan assets - - 
Fair value of plan assets, end of the year 400,000 400,000 
 
The amount recognized as a liability in the statement of financial position in respect of the 
Bank’s defined pension plan is as follows: 

 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Present value of funded obligations 592,341 593,141 
Fair value of plan assets (400,000) (400,000) 

 192,341 193,141 
 
Movements in the net liability recorded in the statement of financial position are as follows: 

 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Net liability, beginning of the year 193,141 259,758 
Benefits paid out of operating fund (  88,268) (  66,617) 
Interest cost 42,493 - 
Returns on plan asset received by the operating fund 44,975 - 
Net liability, end of the year 192,341 193,141 
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22. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN OBLIGATIONS (continued) 
 

Principal actuarial assumption used in determining present value of obligation was at 5.2% 
in 2021 and 2020 respectively.  
 

23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

Commitments  
 
As at 31 December 2021, the Bank was committed to extend credit based on approved but 
undisbursed loans amounting to $2,453,545 (2020: $1,982,955).  

 
Litigation and Provisions for asserted claims 
 
Litigation is a common occurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business 
undertaken. As a result of the litigation risk inherent in its operations, the Bank is involved 
in various litigation proceedings in the ordinary course of its business. The Bank has 
internal and external legal counsel, and formal controls and policies for managing legal 
claims. With the benefit of professional legal advice, the Bank makes adjustments to 
account for any adverse effects which the claims may have on its financial standing and/or 
discloses amounts in accordance with its accounting policies. 

 
As at year end, the Bank had several ongoing legal claims. Various legal proceedings are 
pending that challenge certain actions of the Bank. Most of these proceedings are loan 
related and are reactions to steps taken by the Bank to collect delinquent loans and enforce 
its rights against collateral for securing such loans. 
 
In 2021, the Bank had a case brought against it by a former employee. The claimant is 
seeking judgment for varying amounts before the Industrial Tribunal. Management is of the 
opinion that the chances of these claims being determined in favor of the plaintiffs are 
remote and therefore no provision has been made in these financial statements for any 
loss in connection therewith. 
 
Management is of the view, after taking appropriate legal advice, that the outcome of these 
legal claims will not give rise to any significant losses as at 31 December 2021 and 2020, 
respectively. 
 
Lease commitments 
 
The Bank’s Nassau premises were leased from the Hotel Corporation of the Bahamas for an 
initial period of five years beginning in 1992, with an option to renew for another five years at 
an annual rent of $50,000 per annum. The lease agreement has not been renegotiated 
however the lessor has allowed payments to continue in accordance with the expired lease 
agreement. The lease was terminated during the year when the Bank moved to its new office 
in Robinson Road & Key West Street. 
 
The lease on the Bank’s Freeport office from Jurosbi Investments Ltd was for an initial period 
of three (3) years beginning December 2011, at a monthly rental amount of $3,500, and has 
since been renewed for an additional three (3) years from 1 December 2018 through 30 
November 2021. The Bank also has an option to renew the lease term for an additional one 
(1) year. 
 
On 11 August 2021, the contract was renewed for a period from 1 November 2021 to 30 
September 2024, renewable for one (1) year. 



 

 

34 
 

BAHAMAS DEVELOPMENT BANK 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 
31 December 2021 
 
23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued) 

 
Lease commitments (continued) 
 
Right-of-use asset as at 31 December 2021 is comprised of the following: 

 2021 2020 
 $ $ 

Right-of-use asset (Cost)   
At 1 January  154,061 154,061 
Additions during the year 102,144 - 
At 31 December  256,205 154,061 

Accumulated amortization    
At 1 January 77,032 38,516 
Amortization during the year 38,207 38,516 
At 31 December 115,239 77,032 

 
Carrying value at 31 December  

 
140,966 

 
77,029 

 
Movements in lease liability during the year is as follows: 

 2021 2020 
 $ $ 

Lease liability   
At 1 January  80,187 117,659 
Additions during the year 102,144 - 
Interest charge during the year (see Note 20) 4,347 4,528 
Lease payments during the year (  42,000) (  42,000) 
At 31 December  144,678 80,187 
 
The maturity analysis of lease liability is as follows: 

 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Due within one (1) year 36,230 39,193 
Due within two (2) to five (5) years 108,448 40,994 

 144,678 80,187 
 

24. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS  
 
The Bank’s related parties are comprised of the following: 
 
i) Government ministries, corporations and departments that exercise significant 

influence with the Bank;  
ii) Entities in which the Government has a significant ownership interest; and  
iii) Key management personnel.  
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24. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS (continued) 

 
Balances and transactions that the Bank has with such related parties are disclosed in the 
statement of financial position and accompanying notes. The amounts and terms of these 
transactions are discussed and agreed upon by the parties. 

 Name of the 
related party 

Relationship Nature of the 
balance / 
transaction 

2021 
 

$ 

2020 
 

$ 
Due from the 

Bahamas 
Government 

Ministry of Finance Government 
ministry 

Receivable from   
the Government 

1,960,908 709,471 

 
Accounts payable 

and accrued 
expenses 

 
Ministry of Finance 

 
Government 
ministry 

 
VAT payable 

 
15,616 

 

 
8,228 

 
Government 

subsidy 

 
Ministry of Finance 

 
Government 

ministry 

 
Loans and bonds 
payments 

 
3,488,844 

 
1,759,411 

 
As at 31 December 2021, due from the Bahamas Government account balance included, 
receivable of government subvention, interest subsidy income, admin fee income with 
respect to Mailboat subsidy payments, and receivable of reimbursement of staff salaries 
amounting to $670,574, $280,386, $210,885, and $89,592, respectively (2020: Nil, 
$281,834, $183,475, and $88,407 respectively). 

 
The Board of Directors of the Bank are also classified as related parties. The total Board of 
Directors’ stipends and other benefits incurred by the Bank during the year ended 31 
December 2021, amounted to $93,470 (2020: $99,303), which was paid during the year. This 
amount is included in Directors’ expenses under staff cost in the statement of comprehensive 
operations. No loans were disbursed to the Board of Directors or their close family members 
during the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. 

 
Salaries and other employee benefits paid to key management personnel during the year 
totaled $604,214 (2020: $353,566). Loans to key management personnel of the Bank during 
the year totaled $126,427 (2020: $93,068). The loans bear interest at an annual rate of 4.25% 
(2020: 4.25%), are secured, and have fixed terms of repayment. Other bank employees 
receive loans on the same terms. 

 
25. ASSETS UNDER ADMINISTRATION 

 
Micro Loan Program Design and Implementation 
 
In 2016, the Ministry of Finance (“MOF”) and the Bank agreed to enter a partnership 
agreement to provide some assistance to Micro, Small, and Medium Enterprises (“MSME”) 
via the MOF’s Micro Loan Program (“MOF-MLP”). Once the facility is approved by the MOF-
MLP Committee, the Bank becomes responsible for administering the loan program. The 
Bank, through its loan management system, will keep a file on all MOF-MLP borrowers for 
tracking purposes and will be responsible for the collection of payments and following up with 
delinquent clients.  
 
As of 31 December 2021, total loans under this program that are off-balance sheet amounted 
to $3,335,270 (2020: $3,353,507). As of 31 December 2021, the cash balance that the Bank 
held in reference to the MOF - MLP was $228,955 (2020: $227,581).  
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25. ASSETS UNDER ADMINISTRATION (continued) 

 
Micro Loan Program Design and Implementation (continued) 
 
This cash account was registered in the Bank’s name and is not recorded in the Bank’s 
records, as it is treated as an off-balance sheet account. During the year ended 31 December 
2021 and 2020, no administration fees were earned and received with respect of this 
arrangement. 
 
Movements in the MOF-MLP loans during the year were as follows: 
 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
At January 1 3,353,507 3,395,327 
Loan payments received (    18,237) (     41,820) 
At December 31 3,335,270 3,353,507 
 
Sustainable Development (Agriculture Fund) Micro Loan Program (“SDAF-MLP”) 

Design and Implementation 
 
On 8 February 2017, an Executing Agency Services Agreement was executed between the 
Bank and MOF. MOF facilitated the release of residual Agricultural Credit Guarantee Fund 
(“ACGE”), funding from Central Bank to the Bank for on-lending in the agriculture sector. The 
funds will be treated as “Assets under Administration” for MOF. 
 
The Bank designed a micro loan program for the Sustainable Development Agriculture and 
Fisheries Joint Committee which was established to resuscitate and catapult agriculture and 
agri-business to significance in the Bahamas economy. Applicants seeking consideration 
under the Sustainable Development (Agriculture Fund) Micro Loan Program (“SDAF-MLP”) 
will be required to submit all documents directly to the BAMSI or a BDB Designate. Once the 
facility is approved, the Bank will be responsible for administering the loan program. The 
Bank, through its loan management system, will keep a file on all SDAF-MLP borrowers for 
tracking purposes and will be responsible for collection of payments and following-up with 
delinquent clients. 

 
As at 31 December 2021, total agricultural loans under this program that are off-balance 
sheet amounted to $127,489 (2020: $131,735). As at 31 December 2021, the off-balance 
sheet cash that the Bank held in reference to the SDAF-MLP was $481,532 (2020: 
$480,100). During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no administration fees 
were earned and received with respect of this arrangement. 
 
Movements in the SDAF-MLP loans during the year were as follows: 
 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
At 1 January 131,735 139,668 
Loan payments received (   4,246) (    7,933) 
At 31 December 127,489 131,735 
 
Small Business Development Center Micro-Loan Program (“SBDC-MLP”) 
 
In 2019, a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) was entered between the Bank and the 
Small Business Development Center (“SBDC”) for the purpose of provision of a framework 
for the Bank to act as executing agency for SBDC’s Micro-Loan Program.  
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25. ASSETS UNDER ADMINISTRATION (continued) 

 
Small Business Development Center Micro-Loan Program (“SBDC-MLP”) (continued) 
 
The Bank is being engaged as SBDC’s agent to manage the disbursement, loan supervision, 
and collection protocols established by SBDC in relation to the SBDC-MLP. 

 
As of 31 December 2021, the total loans under this program that are off-balance sheet 
amounted to $342,997 (2020: $279,293). As of 31 December 2021, the off-balance sheet 
cash that the Bank held in reference to the MLP was $96,509 (2020: $10,278).  
 
During the year, the Bank earned and received administration fees amounting to $36,000 
(2020: $36,000) in respect of this arrangement. 
 
Movements in the SBDC-MLP loans during the year were as follows: 
 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
At 1 January 279,293 240,678 
Loans disbursed 86,517 63,668 
Loan payments received (  22,813) (   25,053) 
At 31 December 342,997 279,293 
 
MSME Business Continuity Loan Programme Agreement 
 
On 25 March 2020, a Micro, Small, and Medium Enterprise (“MSME”) Business Continuity 
Loan Programme Agreement was entered into between the Bank and Small Business 
Development Centre (“SBDC”), a non-profit company incorporated under the loans of the 
Commonwealth of The Bahamas. The programme aimed to provide short-term loan 
support to Bahamian small businesses impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, for a total 
allocation of $20,000,000. Eligibility would include confirming that the business has been 
in existence for over one (1) year, a commitment to retain most of the existing staff 
complement, and a plan to utilize the proceeds of the loan to ensure business continuity. 
 
As at 31 December 2021, total loans under this programme that are off-balance sheet 
amounted to $3,117,527 (2020: $3,482,105). As of 31 December 2021, the off-balance 
sheet cash that the Bank held in reference to the MSME programme was $474,498 (2020: 
$652,960). During the year, the Bank earned and received administration fees amounting 
to $76,650 (2020: $72,800) in respect of this arrangement. 
 
Movements in the MSME loans during the year were as follows: 
 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
At January 1 3,482,105 - 
Loans disbursed - 3,507,886 
Loan payments received ( 364,578) (     25,781) 
At December 31 3,117,527 3,482,105 
 
Hurricane Dorian - Disaster Recovery Loan Programme 
 
As of 31 December 2021, total disaster recovery loans that are off-balance sheet amounted 
to $17,112 (2020: $17,308). As of 31 December 2021, the off-balance sheet cash that the 
Bank held in reference to the disaster recovery loan program was $1,500,000 (2020: 
$1,500,000). During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no administration fees 
were earned and received. 
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25. ASSETS UNDER ADMINISTRATION (continued) 

 
MSME Business Continuity Loan Programme Agreement (continued) 
 
Hurricane Dorian - Disaster Recovery Loan Programme (continued) 
 
Movements in the Hurricane Dorian – Disaster Recovery Loan Programme during the year 
were as follows: 
 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
At January 1 17,308 - 
Loans disbursed - 17,574 
Loan payments received (     196) (     266) 
At December 31 17,112 17,308 
 
Executing Agency Services – Mailboat Service Contract Payments  
 
In August 2016, the Bank entered an Executing Agency Services Agreement with the 
Ministry of Finance (“MOF”) for Mailboat Service Contract Payments. Under this 
agreement, the Treasury Department transferred one-twelfth (1/12) of the total 
Government subsidy of the 2016/2017 fiscal year budget allocation of $8,754,000 for all 
mail boat operators to the Bank on a monthly basis. 
 
Under this arrangement, the Ministry of Transport notifies the Bank weekly, of all operators 
eligible for the payment. To be eligible for the payment, the operator must provide a Tax 
Compliance Certificate (“TCC”) in addition to the Ministry of Transport’s voyage information 
and reporting requirements. Upon receiving the required documents along with the funds, 
the Bank disburses payments directly to the Mailboat operator.   
 
The Bank through its loan management system, keeps a file on all mail boat operators for 
the purpose of tracking payments. A history of all payments i.e. statement of account will 
be available to all operators at the Bank’s charge for that service. An administration fee of 
2.5% of disbursements for the above mentioned Executing Agency services is to be 
charged as an offset against “Due from Government account” monthly. 
 
As at 31 December 2021, the cash that the Bank held in reference to these Mail boat 
contract payments was $1,068,598 (2020: $762,200) and presented as part of the Bank's 
customer deposits in the statement of financial position. During the year, the Bank earned 
and received administration fees amounting to $210,885 (2020: $183,475) in respect of 
this arrangement (see Note 14). 
 
Movements in the Mailboat Service Contracts Payments during the year were as follows. 

 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Due to Mail boat operators, beginning of the year 762,200 1,855,345 
Funds received for the distribution  8,729,461 6,246,262 
Funds disbursed    (8,423,063) (7,339,407) 
Due to Mail boat operators, the end of the year 1,068,598 762,200 
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26. CONCENTRATIONS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 

As at 31 December 2021, the Bank has the following concentrations of financial assets and 
liabilities according to geographic region and industry sector: 

 Geographic region Industry 2021 
% 

2020 
% 

Cash and cash equivalents Bahamas Financial Sector 100.00 100.00 
Loans receivable Bahamas Service 63.84 65.86 
 Bahamas Transportation 14.62 10.25 
 Bahamas Tourism 11.10 11.64 
 Bahamas Manufacturing 7.34 8.13 
 Bahamas Staff 1.68 1.83 
 Bahamas Fishing 1.05 1.79 
 Bahamas Agriculture 0.37 0.50 
   100.00 100.00 
Loans and bonds payable Bahamas Financial Sector 100.00 100.00 
 

27. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
 
The Bank’s operating and investing activities expose it to a variety of financial risks in the 
normal course of business including; market risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, 
reputational risk and compliance risk. The Bank’s financial performance is affected by its 
capacity to understand and effectively manage these risks. 
 
The Bank’s challenge is not only to measure and monitor these risks, but also to manage 
them as profit opportunities. 

 
Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, 
interest rates and equity prices, will affect the Bank’s income or the value of its holdings of 
financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control 
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing return. Management 
mitigates this risk by not investing significantly in securities affected by market risk. Market 
risk is comprised of the following: 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
The Bank provides financial and technical assistance to Bahamian entrepreneurs in the 
areas of agriculture, fishing, marine and land transportation, tourism, manufacturing, 
service enterprises, and other commercial operations. 
 
Interest rate is the potential adverse risk on earnings caused by movements in interest 
rates during the period. The Bank’s interest-bearing assets and liabilities expose it to cash 
flow interest rate risk. Interest margins may increase or decrease as a result of such 
changes and may reduce or increase losses in the event that unexpected movements 
arise. 
 
The Bank minimizes interest rate risk through the lending of monies at fixed rates of 
interest financed by fixed-rate long-term debt, which are specifically earmarked to finance 
projects in the economic sectors disclosed in Note 28. 
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27. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 

 
Market risk (continued) 
 
Interest rate risk (continued) 
 
Interest rate risk in Bahamas government registered stocks (“BGRS”) and bonds 
payable 

 
The Bank carries some fixed-income securities, namely BGRS and bonds payable, 
however, the coupon rate of these investments is subject to prime interest rate plus an add 
on-rate. The below table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in 
these financial instruments, with all other variables held constant in the Bank’s statement 
of comprehensive operations for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 
Sensitivity of the financial asset and the financial liability subject to prime interest rate plus 
an add-on rate 
 Portfolio 

size 
Increase/
decrease  

In basis 
points 

Sensitivity of Profit 
or loss 

 $  $ 
31 December 2021    
Fixed income securities measured at 

amortized cost - BGRS 
 

363,500 
 

+50 / (50) 
 

(1,818) / 1,818 
Bonds payable 4,000,000 +50 / (50) (20,000) / 20,000 
Interest sensitivity gap   (18,182) / 18,182 
    
31 December 2020    
Fixed income securities measured at 

amortized cost - BGRS 
 

363,500 
 

+50 / (50) 
 

(1,818) / 1,818 
Bonds payable 4,000,000 +50 / (50) (20,000) / 20,000 
Interest sensitivity gap   (18,182) / 18,182 
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27. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 

 
Interest rate risk (continued) 
 
Interest rate risk gap analysis 
 
The table below summarizes the Bank’s possible exposure to interest rate risk. The table 
shows the Bank’s interest and non- interest bearing financial assets and liabilities carrying 
amounts respectively. 
 
Interest rate sensitivity gap analysis as at 31 December 2021: 

2021 
 Interest Non-interest    Carrying 
 bearing bearing value 
 assets assets  
 $ $ $ 

Financial assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 560,659 1,899,441 2,460,100 
Investments, at amortized cost 6,970,654 - 6,970,654 
Loans receivable, gross 20,161,336 - 20,161,336 
Due from the Bahamas Government - 1,960,908 1,960,908 
Interest receivable 503,143 - 503,143 
Other assets - 516,321 516,321 

 28,195,792 4,376,670 32,572,462 
Financial liabilities    
Customer deposits 1,633,852 - 1,633,852 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses - 1,463,961 1,463,961 
Bonds payable 4,000,000 - 4,000,000 
Loans payable 39,031,896 - 39,031,896 
Lease liability 144,678 - 144,678 
Interest payable 720,866 - 720,866 

 45,531,292 1,463,961 46,995,253 
 
Total interest rate risk gap 

 
(17,335,500) 

 
2,912,709 

 
(14,422,791) 
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27. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 

 
Interest rate risk (continued) 
 
Interest rate risk gap analysis (continued) 

2020 
 Interest Non-interest Carrying 
 Bearing bearing value 
 Assets assets  
 $ $ $ 

Financial assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 556,840 3,144,994 3,701,834 
Investments, at amortized cost 10,407,022 - 10,407,022 
Loans receivable, gross 18,043,473 - 18,043,473 
Due from the Bahamas Government - 709,471 709,471 
Interest receivable 511,297 - 511,297 
Other assets - 597,948 597,948 

 29,518,632 4,452,413 33,971,045 
Financial liabilities    
Customer deposits 1,385,171 - 1,385,171 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses - 693,403 693,403 
Bonds payable 4,000,000 - 4,000,000 
Loans payable 40,167,484 - 40,167,484 
Lease liability 80,187 - 80,187 
Interest payable 712,543 - 712,543 

 46,345,385 693,403 47,038,788 
 
Total interest rate risk gap 

 
(16,826,753) 

 
3,759,010 

 
 (13,067,743) 

 
The sensitivity analysis has been performed based on the exposure to interest rates of 
financial assets and liabilities at the statement of financial position date. 50 (2020: 50) basis 
point increase or decrease is used as it represents management’s assessment of the 
reasonably possible change in interest rates. 
 
If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables remained 
constant, the Bank’s net income and consequently equity position for the year ended 31 
December 2021 would have decreased by $86,678 (2020: $84,134). This is mainly 
attributable to the Bank’s exposure to interest rates in its fixed rate liabilities. 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising if a customer or counter-party fails to meet its 
contractual obligations. The Bank’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its cash and 
deposits with other banks and financial institutions and credit exposures to customers, 
including outstanding loan receivables and committed transactions. The Bank places cash 
and deposits with reputable local banks and financial institutions. All local contracted banks 
and financial institutions are regulated and monitored by the Central Bank of The Bahamas 
and account for 100% of cash at banks and fixed term deposits at year-end. 
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27. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 

 
Credit risk (continued) 
 
Credit risk is the greatest risk facing the Bank and management therefore carefully 
manages its exposure to credit risk. Provisions are provided for expected credit losses as 
of the statement of financial position date (see Note 7). Significant changes in the 
economies or sectors that represent a concentration in the Bank’s portfolio could result in 
losses that are different from those provided for as of the statement of financial position 
date. 
 
The Bank mitigates credit risk on its loan portfolio by requiring borrowers to provide 
collateral equivalent to the loan balance and limiting the total value of any loan originated 
to a single individual or entity to 10% of total capital. Collateral held includes land, buildings 
and chattel.  
 
Expected Credit Loss Measurement (“ECL”) 
 
ECL is measured on either a 12-month (12M) or lifetime basis, depending on whether a 
significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or whether an asset 
is considered to be credit-impaired. Expected credit losses are the discounted product of 
probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD), and loss given default (LGD), defined 
as follows:  
 
• The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation, 

either over the next 12 months (12M PD), or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) 
of the obligation.  

• EAD is based on the amounts the Bank expects to be owed at the time of default, over 
the next 12 months (12M EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD). For 
example, for a revolving commitment, the Bank includes the current drawn balance 
plus any further amount that is expected to be drawn up to the current contractual limit 
by the time of default, should it occur.  

• LGD represents the Bank’s expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure. 
LGD varies by type of counterparty, type and seniority of claim and availability of 
collateral or other credit support. LGD is expressed as a percentage loss per unit of 
exposure at the time of default (EAD). LGD is calculated on a 12- month or lifetime 
basis, where 12-month LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made if the 
default occurs in the next 12 months and Lifetime LGD is the percentage of loss 
expected to be made if the default occurs over the remaining expected lifetime of the 
loan.  

 
The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for each future month and for 
each individual exposure or collective segment. These three components are multiplied 
together and adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e., the exposure has not prepaid or 
defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively calculates an ECL for each future month, 
which is then discounted back to the reporting date and summed. The discount rate used 
in the ECL calculation is the original effective interest rate or an approximation thereof. The 
Lifetime PD is developed by applying a maturity profile to the current 12M PD. The maturity 
profile looks at how defaults develop on a portfolio from the point of initial recognition 
throughout the lifetime of the loans. The maturity profile is based on historical observed 
data and is assumed to be the same across all assets within a portfolio and credit grade 
band. This is supported by historical analysis. 
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27. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 

 
Credit risk (continued) 
 
Expected Credit Loss Measurement (“ECL”) (continued)  
 
The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile, 
which varies by product type. They are also determined based on the factors which impact 
the recoveries made post default, which vary by product type.  
 
Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk  
 
For financial assets recognized on the statement of financial position, the exposure to credit 
risk equals their carrying amount. For standby letters of credit, the maximum exposure to 
credit risk is the maximum amount that the Bank would have to pay if the standby letters 
of credit are called upon. For mortgage commitments and revolving credit lines that are 
irrevocable over the life of the respective facilities, the maximum exposure to credit risk is 
the full amount of the committed facilities. The maximum exposure to loan commitments 
as at 31 December 2021 is disclosed in Note 23. 
 
The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial assets for 
which an ECL allowance is recognized. The gross carrying amount of the financial assets 
represents the Bank’s maximum exposure to the credit risk of these assets. 
 

 Stage 1 
$ 

Stage 2 
$ 

Stage 3 
$ 

2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Cash and cash equivalents 
(excluding the cash on hand) 

 
2,457,800 

 
- 

 
- 

 
2,457,800 

 
3,699,534 

Loans receivable, including 
accrued interest, gross 

 
8,772,613 

 
1,277,498 

 
10,111,225 

 
20,161,336 

 
18,043,473 

Investments, at amortized cost 148,881 6,821,773 - 6,970,654 10,407,022 
Due from the Bahamas 

Government 
 

- 
 

- 
 

1,960,908 
 

1,960,908 
 

709,471 
Interest receivable 503,143 - - 503,143 511,297 
Other assets 516,321 - - 516,321 597,948 
 12,398,759 8,099,271 12,072,133 32,570,162 33,968,745 
 
The following table shows the breakdown of the impairment allowance by portfolio at 31 
December 2021: 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 2021 2020 
 12-month 

ECL 
Lifetime 

ECL 
Lifetime  

ECL 
  

 $ $ $ $ $ 
Loans receivable including 

accrued interest: 
     

Gross carrying amount      
Consumer loans 3,985,754 885,610 6,969,316 11,840,680 9,539,222 
Commercial loans 4,092,821 368,835 2,056,521 6,518,177 6,763,841 
Staff loans 309,069 23,053 - 332,122 304,245 
Extra ordinary advances - - 1,085,388 1,085,388 899,696 
Accrued interest 384,969 - - 384,969 536,469 

Loss allowance (   818,693) (  190,176) (3,484,393) ( 4,493,262) ( 2,830,687) 
 7,953,920 1,087,322 6,626,832 15,668,074 15,212,786 
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27. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 

 
Credit risk (continued) 
 
Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk (continued) 
 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 2021 2020 
 12-month 

ECL 
Lifetime 

ECL 
Lifetime 

ECL 
  

 $ $ $ $ $ 
Investment securities at 

amortized cost: 
     

Gross carrying amount 148,881 6,821,773 - 6,970,654 10,407,022 
Loss allowance - - - - - 

Carrying amount 148,881 6,821,773 - 6,970,654 10,407,022 
 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 2021 2020 
 12-month 

ECL 
Lifetime 

ECL 
Lifetime 

ECL 
  

 $ $ $ $ $ 
Due from the Bahamas 

Government: 
     

Gross carrying amount - - 1,960,908 1,960,908 709,471 
Loss allowance - - - - - 

Carrying amount - - 1,960,908 1,960,908 709,471 
 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 2021 2020 
 12-month 

ECL 
Lifetime 

ECL 
Lifetime 

ECL 
  

 $ $ $ $ $ 
Interest receivable, net:      
Gross carrying amount 503,143 - - 503,143 511,297 
Loss allowance - - - - - 

Carrying amount 503,143 - - 503,143 511,297 
 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 2021 2020 
 12-month 

ECL 
Lifetime 

ECL 
Lifetime 

ECL 
  

 $ $ $ $ $ 
Other assets:      
Gross carrying amount 221,761 - 294,560 516,321 597,948 
Loss allowance - - (294,560) (   294,560) (  286,332) 

Carrying amount 221,761 - - 221,761 311,616 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
The Bank seeks to manage its liquidity to be able to finance all of its operating and capital 
expenditures. Liquidity management is the responsibility of the Board of Directors, which 
ensures the Bank maintains a level of liquid assets that could be sold immediately to meet 
cash requirements for normal operating purposes.
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27. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 

 
Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
The following tables summarize the maturity profile of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2021 based on 
contractual maturities: 

 2021 

 
On  Less than 1 to 5 More than No specific Total 

Demand 1 year Years 5 years maturity  
$  $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 1,899,441 560,659 - - - 2,460,100 
Investments, at amortized cost - 1,995,454 363,500 4,611,700 - 6,970,654 
Loans receivable, gross - 5,231,343 4,276,713 10,653,280 - 20,161,336 
Due from the Bahamas Government - - - - 1,960,908 1,960,908 
Interest receivable - 503,143 - - - 503,143 
Other assets - 516,321 - - - 516,321 
  1,899,441 8,806,920 4,640,213 15,264,980 1,960,908 32,572,462 

Financial liabilities       
Customer deposits - 1,633,852 - - - 1,633,852 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses - 1,463,961 - - - 1,463,961 
Bonds payable - - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000 
Loans payable - 2,127,578 7,229,629 29,674,689 - 39,031,896 
Interest payable - 720,866 - - - 720,866 
Lease liability - 36,230 108,448 - - 144,678 
 - 5,982,487 11,338,077 29,674,689 - 46,995,253 
       

Liquidity gap 1,899,441 2,824,433 (  6,697,864) (14,409,709) 1,960,908 (14,422,791) 
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27. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 

 
Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
The following tables summarize the maturity profile of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2020 based on 
contractual maturities: 

 2020 

 
On  Less than 1 to 5 More than No specific Total  

Demand 1 year Years 5 years maturity  
$  $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 3,144,994 556,840 - - - 3,701,834 
Investments at amortized cost - 5,431,822 363,500 4,611,700 - 10,407,022 
Loans receivable - 3,989,815 2,375,590 8,847,381 - 15,212,786 
Due from the Bahamas Government - - - - 709,471 709,471 
Interest receivable - 511,297 - - - 511,297 
Other assets - 597,948 - - - 597,948 
  3,144,994 11,087,722 2,739,090 13,459,081 709,471 31,140,358 

Financial liabilities       
Customer deposits - 1,385,171 - - - 1,385,171 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses - 693,403 - - - 693,403 
Bonds payable - - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000 
Loans payable - 1,604,187 8,888,607 29,674,690 - 40,167,484 
Interest payable - 712,543 - - - 712,543 
Lease liability - 39,193 40,994 - - 80,187 
 - 4,434,497 12,929,601 29,674,690 - 47,038,788 
       

Liquidity gap 3,144,994 6,653,225 ( 10,190,511)  ( 16,215,609) 709,471 (15,898,430) 
 

Reputational risk 
 
Reputational risk arises from operational failures, failure to comply with relevant laws and regulations, or other sources which 
negatively impact the image or public profile of the Bank. The Bank manages this risk by only engaging in transactions with reputable 
entities, and adhering to a robust know-your-customer (“KYC”) regime for current and prospective clients. 
 
Compliance risk 
 
Compliance risk arises in situations where the laws or rules governing certain activities of the Bank are not complied with. The Bank 
mitigates this risk by continuously educating its staff in this area and by employing its own Compliance Department to ensure that 
the laws and regulations that affect the Bank’s business are adhered to.
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28. FINANCING OF OPERATIONS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND 

PROCEDURES 
 

The Bank has incurred significant operating losses in recent years and such losses are 
projected for the future. The Bank is dependent on funding from the Government and it is 
anticipated that such funding, via the Government’s subsidy, will continue to be made 
available at a level sufficient to allow the Bank to adequately maintain its operations.  
 
The Bank is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
29. RECLASSIFICATION OF PRIOR YEAR PERIOD PRESENTATION 
  

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current period 
presentation (See statement of financial position). These reclassifications had no effect on 
the reported results of operations of the Bank. 

  2020 (After  
reclassification) 

$ 

2020 (Before  
reclassification) 

$ 

Net effect 
 

$ 
Cash and cash equivalents  3,701,834   3,144,995   556,839  
Investments at amortized cost  10,407,022   10,963,861  (556,839) 
Interest receivable, net  511,297   -     511,297  
Prepayments and other assets  353,738   580,330  (226,592) 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (     693,403)  (     601,839)  (  91,564) 
Defined benefit pension obligations  (     193,141)  -    (193,141) 
Provision for expected credit losses  406,157   692,489  (286,332) 
General and administrative costs  1,060,189   773,857   286,332  

  15,553,693   15,553,693   -    
 
30. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

 
The Bank evaluated the impact of all post-reporting date events through 14 October 2022, 
which is the date the financial statements are available to be issued.  
 
Effective 1 January 2022, the VAT Bill and Regulations was amended, changing the rate 
from 12% to 10%. 
 
In September 2021, the Board of Directors was dissolved as a result of the Government 
change and a new Board was appointed by the Government in February 2022. 
 
In March 2022 and July 2022, the Bank appointed key management personnel such as the 
Human Resources Manager and Deputy Managing Director, respectively. 
 
On 4 July 2022, a new Managing Director was appointed, who oversees the daily operations 
of the Bank and reports directly to the Bank’s Board of Directors. 
 
At the date of authorization of these financial statements, there has been no other evidence 
of significant impact on the Bank’s financial position, and there are no other going concern 
eventualities necessitating disclosure except as disclosed in Note 2 to the financial 
statements. 

 
 

 
Independent Auditors’ Report pages 1 through 4. 
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